

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Strategies to Enhance Creative Performance in Creative Industry **Firms**

Shirley D. Bishop Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Organizational Behavior and Theory Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Shirley D. Bishop

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Brenda Jack, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Jaime Klein, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Cheryl Lentz, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Strategies to Enhance Creative Performance in Creative Industry Firms

by

Shirley D. Bishop

MS, Baruch College, City University of New York, 2004

BS, Baruch College, City University of New York, 1997

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2021

Abstract

Poor creative performance in creative industry firms adversely affects business profitability and competitive standing. Managers of creative industry firms who lack strategies to enhance creative performance risk the sustainability of their firms. Grounded in social cognitive theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies managers of creative industry firms use to motivate employees to enhance creative performance. Participants were 4 creative industry managers located in the New York tristate region of the United States, who successfully motivated employees to enhance creative performance. Data were collected using semistructured interviews and company documents. Data were analyzed using Yin's 5-step process. Four themes emerged: (a) leader behavior, (b) communication, (c) provide tools and support, and (d) autonomy. A key recommendation for creative industry firm managers is to facilitate open communication exchanges, verbal persuasion, feedback interactions, and communication technologies as effective creative performance-enhancement techniques. The implications for positive social change include the potential for increases in managerial influence over creative employees' efficacious motivation to introduce new ideas, products, or services, leading to new jobs and increases in personal wealth within communities.

Strategies to Enhance Creative Performance in Creative Industry Firms

by

Shirley D. Bishop

MS, Baruch College, City University of New York, 2004 BS, Baruch College, City University of New York, 1997

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2021

Dedication

This doctoral study is dedicated to my Lord and Savior Jesus Christ, without whom the fulfillment of this endeavor would not have been possible.

Acknowledgments

Above all else, I give honor and praise to God for leading and guiding me through the Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) program. Additionally, I would like to thank my DBA chairperson, Dr. Brenda E. Jack for her compassionate and motivating support. Dr. Jack is truly a blessing. Furthermore, I wish to acknowledge my doctoral study committee members, Dr. Scott Hipsher and Dr. Jamie Klein, and my university reviewer, Dr. Cheryl Lentz, for their valuable contributions to my study. I also want to thank the research participants for lending their knowledge and experiences to the process. Moreover, I greatly appreciate the family members who prayed for and encouraged me during various stages of this journey.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	2
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	4
Conceptual Framework	5
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	7
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	8
Contribution to Business Practice	8
Implications for Social Change	9
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9
Social Cognitive Theory	10
Supporting and Contrasting Theories	18

Creative Industries	26
Creative Performance	30
Creative Self-Efficacy	31
Creativity	33
Motivating for Higher Levels of Creative Performance	40
Enhancing Creative Performance for Organizational Effectiveness	44
Transition	48
Section 2: The Project	50
Purpose Statement	50
Role of the Researcher	50
Participants	52
Research Method and Design	54
Research Method	54
Research Design	56
Population and Sampling	57
Ethical Research	60
Data Collection Instruments	62
Data Collection Technique	63
Data Organization Technique	64
Data Analysis	65
Reliability and Validity	66
Reliability	67

Validity	68
Transition and Summary	70
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	71
Introduction	71
Presentation of the Findings	71
Theme 1: Leader Behavior	74
Theme 2: Communication	78
Theme 3: Tools and Support	82
Theme 4: Autonomy	85
Applications to Professional Practice	88
Implications for Social Change	90
Recommendations for Action	91
Recommendations for Further Research	92
Reflections	94
Conclusion	95
References	96
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	148
Appendix B: Certificate of Ethical Compliance	149
Appendix C: Interview Questions	150

List of Tables

Table 1	Strategies	Used to Moti	vate Enhance	d Creative I	Performance	74
---------	------------	--------------	--------------	--------------	-------------	----

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Creative industry firms are vital to evolving economies. Profitable and competitive creative industry firms generate new ideas, products, services, markets, and jobs and contribute to the U.S. creative economy (National Endowment of the Arts, [NEA], 2018). Creativity is a key factor for organizational survival and longevity (Allahar, 2018), as employee inability to produce creative works threatens the sustainability of creative industry firms. An exploration of factors that influence employee creative performance may offer managers effective strategies to build capacity to meet innovative demands in dynamic competitive environments.

Background of the Problem

Organizations operating in creative industries include architectural, design, art, fashion, cable services, music, television, radio, theater, performing arts, advertising, digital media, film, and publishing companies (Springer, 2019). In enhancing or fostering higher levels of creative performance, managers have the challenge of helping workers contend with difficulties in producing creative works (Radomska et al., 2019). The self-efficacy component of psychological capital is one of the most influential factors in creative performance (Intasao & Hao, 2018). The goal of this qualitative single case study was to explore effective strategies managers use to develop human capital and motivate employee enhancement of creative performance.

Problem Statement

Creative industry firms largely depend on the creative performance of employees for profitability and competitive standing (Kalyar & Kalyar, 2018). Becker et al. (2019) reported that creative industry firms in one U.S. region sold \$24 billion worth of products and services, 78% of which came from creative industry worker performance. The general business problem is that substandard employee performance in creative industry firms adversely affects business profitability and competitive standing (Herawati et al., 2018). The specific business problem is that some managers of creative industry firms lack effective strategies to motivate employees to enhance creative performance.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore the effective strategies used by some managers of a creative industry firm to motivate employees to enhance creative performance. The target population for this study were managers within a creative industry firm in the New York tristate area who successfully motivated employees to enhance creative performance. The implications for positive social change include the potential for increases in managerial influence over creative employees' efficacious motivation to introduce new ideas, products, or services, which can lead to the generation of new jobs, increases in personal wealth, and general benefits to communities.

Nature of the Study

The three research methods considered for this study were qualitative, quantitative, and mixed (Zhu et al., 2018). I used a qualitative research method for this

study. Qualitative researchers use open-ended questions to discover what occurs with phenomena in their natural context (Rosenthal, 2016; Yin, 2018). A qualitative research method will facilitate in-depth exploration and understanding of strategies used by managers. I used open-ended questions to explore the managers' involvement in implementing strategies to motivate employees to achieve higher levels of creative performance. Quantitative researchers use closed-ended questions to test hypotheses about relationships or differences among variables (Tvinnereim et al., 2017). A quantitative method was not suitable for this study because I was not testing hypotheses about relationships or differences among variables. Mixed-methods researchers employ the use of both qualitative elements and quantitative elements (Schoonenboom & Johnson, 2017). Because the intention was to discover the effective strategies some managers use to motivate employees to enhance creative performance and not to test hypotheses, the mixed method was not appropriate for this study.

I chose a single case study design for this research. A case study design involves the exploration of single or multiple occurrences researchers can use to capture and validate case intricacies (Yin, 2018). Researchers use a case study to focus in-depth on a contemporary phenomenon where boundaries between situations are unclear and to retain a holistic perspective in examining managerial processes (Ridder, 2017; Yin, 2018). The case study design was appropriate because I was conducting an in-depth investigation of the intricacies of creative performance enhancement. I considered three alternative research designs for this study: (a) ethnography, (b) phenomenology, and (c) narrative. Ethnography involves an up-close investigation of group cultures or social occurrences

through sustained firsthand observation (Cappellaro, 2017). Ethnography research did not meet the needs for this study because the focus was an investigation of a business problem, not a group's culture or social occurrences. Phenomenology includes analysis of a person's perceptions of an event or lived experience (Haradhan-Kumar, 2018). I did not choose a phenomenological approach, as an exploration of an individual's perception of events or lived experiences was not the aim of this study. In narrative inquiry, participants share stories so researchers can explore how cultural, social, and physical environments influenced participants' actions and experiences (Haydon et al., 2018). Narrative analysis of participants' stories on cultural, social, and physical environments did not fit the needs of this study.

Research Question

The following research question guided this study: What effective strategies do some managers of creative industry firms use to motivate employees to enhance creative performance?

Interview Questions

- 1. What effective strategies do you use to motivate employee creative performance?
- 2. What strategies were most effective in motivating employees to enhance creative performance?
- 3. What strategies were least effective in motivating employees to enhance creative performance?
- 4. What criteria do you use to set creative performance goals?

- 5. How do you assess the effectiveness of the strategies you use to motivate employees to enhance creative performance in your firm?
- 6. What barriers did you encounter in implementing strategies to motivate employees to enhance creative performance?
- 7. How did you address the barriers to implementing strategies to motivate employee enhancement of creative performance?
- 8. What else might you add to the discussion concerning motivating employee creative performance?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was Bandura's (1977) social cognitive theory. Social cognitive theory, also known as *self-efficacy theory*, is a contemporary theory of motivation (Al-Harthy, 2016; Bandura, 1995). Social cognitive theory proposes that workers are motivated primarily by the self-efficacy conceptions of their ability to perform assigned tasks (Bandura, 1986, 1995, 1997). Social cognitive theory was applied to this study to provide insight into managers' strategies for influencing workers' motivation toward performing creative tasks.

There are several precepts related to social cognitive theory. A central precept of social cognitive theory is that employee self-efficacy is a motivating tool that mobilizes effort to achieve goals and to persist over time (Harinie et al., 2017). Bandura (1995) suggested that managers can improve employee self-efficacy motivation by providing training on specific tasks. Managers can also effect employee self-efficacy through (a) enactive mastery, (b) vicarious modeling, (c) verbal persuasion, or (d) affective arousal

(Bandura, 1977; Mustafa et al., 2019). Lent et al. (2017) proposed that favorable levels of mastery experiences, observation of models, verbal encouragement, and low levels of negative affect foster stronger self-efficacy. Social cognitive theory provided a conceptual foundation for this study in that its efficacy tenets can be the basis of human agency that affects workers' motivation to engage in behaviors related to creative performance.

Operational Definitions

Creative codes: Informal and implicit rules concerning what represents creative excellence as expressed through outputs, shared norms, language, and awards (Windels & Stuhlfaut, 2017).

Creative industries: Firms and persons who are engaged in producing and providing original products, such as books, music, films, paintings, or theater performances, as well as services that generate offerings such as advertising campaigns or web design (Jones et al., 2016).

Creative performance: A person's ability to generate novel and useful ideas concerning workplace processes and procedures (Zhang et al., 2017).

Creative self-efficacy: A person's confidence in their ability to generate original works (Liu et al., 2016).

Self-efficacy: An individual's belief in their ability to succeed in specific situations (Lee & Johnston-Wilder, 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are factors researchers deem to be accurate that are not verified (Armstrong & Kepler, 2018). In this study, I assumed that all research participants would provide truthful responses to my interview questions. Open-ended questions promote research participant elicitation of transparent and truthful replies to interview questions (Devotta et al., 2016). Additional assumptions included that a motivational framework might enhance the creative performance needed for business profitability and competitive advantage. Pang and Lu (2018) found a significant positive relationship between employee motivation to perform and organizational outcomes. Managers can use strategies to motivate employees to increase creative performance needed for organizational success (Naidoo, 2016).

Limitations

Limitations refer to research methodology shortcomings a researcher cannot influence or closely associate with the chosen research design and may disrupt the findings of a study (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). A potential shortcoming of this study was the degree of knowledge a participant may have had that warranted them being a creative industry manager. Managers have differing experiences and abilities. If the study participants had lesser knowledge, experience, or abilities, the comprehensiveness of the data may suffer. Another possible weakness of this study was the focus of the study on only one creative industry firm.

Delimitations

Delimitations are the propositions that help to define the boundaries and scope of a study (Yin, 2018). A delimitation of this study was the use of a single case study design approach. The research of one creative industry firm took take place in a readily accessible New York tristate region. Another delimitation of this study was that it was limited to managers in a creative industry firm who have employed effective strategies to enhance creative performance

Significance of the Study

The value of this study is that results may enable managers to assist employees in transforming creative works into financial and competitive gains. Creative industry workers must present original design, product, service, procedure, and innovative process ideas to meet creative performance goals (Brunow et al., 2018) at high qualities and profitable selling points (Nawarini et al., 2018). Nawarini et al. (2018) found that advanced levels of human capital—that is, experience and expertise of creative performers—will result in enhanced levels of creative industry firm performance. Enhanced levels of creative performance from employees in creative industry firms can be a core competency that translates into profitable outcomes and competitive advantage.

Contribution to Business Practice

Creative industry employees provide valuable services to their organizations.

Workers in creative industries are among the most valued assets of their firms (Chang, 2018). The ability to generate novel ideas and innovations or creative performances has a direct effect on business performance (Munizu & Hamid, 2018). The contribution of this

study to business practice lies in the potential of the findings being used to provide new perspectives on ways to motivate employees to enhance creative performance for increasing profitability and competitive advantage.

Implications for Social Change

The implication for positive social change is employees' efficacious motivation to achieve higher levels of creative performance lies in industry potential. The potential for positive social change includes the possible generation of jobs, wealth, and improved welfare of communities (Francis, 2015). Creative people may translate self-efficacious efforts to the betterment of their communities and society at large (Bandura, 1995; Garcia, 2015).

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this study was to explore the strategies managers of some creative industry firms use to motivate employees to enhance creative performance. In this literature review, I present an analysis and synthesis of the content found in various literary sources. The strategy for searching the literature was to research social cognitive and related theories, creative performance, and motivation strategies. The keywords used to search for peer-reviewed journal articles and other scholarly works included: *creative industries, creative performance, creative self-efficacy, employee creativity, employee motivation, employee performance, innovation, motivation, self-efficacy, social cognitive theory,* and *self-efficacy theory*.

The research databases used for this literature search included ABI/INFORM Collection, Business Source Complete, EBSCOhost, Emerald Management, Google Scholar, ProQuest, SAGE Premier, ScienceDirect, and Thoreau Multi-Database Search. The literature review section of this study has 195 references. Of the 195 references cited in the literature review, 92.8% are peer-reviewed journal articles, and 85.1% of the peer-reviewed journal articles were published in 2017 or later.

Social Cognitive Theory

The conceptual framework for this study is the social cognitive theory. The social cognitive theory is a part of the self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1977; Torkan et al., 2018). The proposition of the social cognitive theory is that workers are motivated primarily by the self-efficacy conceptions of their ability to perform assigned tasks (Bandura, 1986, 1995, 1997). A significant precept of social cognitive theory is that employee self-efficacy is a motivating tool that mobilizes an effort to target behavior toward goals and to persist over time (Harinie et al., 2017). The principle of the social cognitive theory provides the conceptual basis for informing and supporting the research in this study.

Social cognitive theory is rooted in the human agency view. Human agency is an individual's capacity to author their experiences and to exert control over the nature and quality of their life, including self-regulation of motivation to act (Bandura, 2000, 2001). Self-efficacy is the foundation of human agency, which in part regulates human function through motivational and cognitive processes (Bandura, 1989; Klassen & Klassen, 2018). Self-efficacy is a person's conception of their abilities to take the actions needed to execute a specific task successfully (Bandura, 1997), and self-efficacy beliefs determine

behavioral intensity toward task completion (Bandura, 2012). Klassen and Klassen (2018) suggested that self-efficacy is an essential factor in human agency, as people who are not confident in the skills they have are less prone to fulfill tasks that necessitate those skills and are less inclined to persist in completing challenging assignments. If creative industry firm employees do not perceive they can successfully produce desired results, the employees have little motivation to persist in performing creative tasks.

Social cognitive theory is a contemporary theory of motivation. Social cognitive theory suggests that cognitive, behavioral, and environmental factors affect learning and performance (Bandura, 2018). Individual learning and performance result from reciprocal interactions between cognitive, behavioral, and environmental factors (Bandura, 1986, 2018), and individuals benefit from and contribute to their environments (Harinie et al., 2017). External factors such as supportive work climates can shape worker ideas, inclusive environments can alter the way employees display behavior, and employee behavior can affect work environments. Based on social cognitive theory, the reciprocal interactions between a worker's beliefs (cognitive), actions (behavioral), and work conditions (environment) determine employee motivation to enhance creative performance.

Key Constructs Underlying Social Cognitive Theory

Employees often need the motivation to learn the desired behaviors for enhancing creative performance. Motivation is a process of learning (Albrecht & Karabenick, 2017) and is central to human beings' ambitions and accomplishments (Gopalan et al., 2017). Social cognitive theory holds self-efficacy as the principal driver of motivation (Oyibo et

al., 2018). Self-efficacy is central to social cognitive theory as it centers on a person's belief in their abilities and motivation to complete assigned tasks (Ozyilmaz et al., 2017; Wood & Bandura, 1989). As a motivation belief, self-efficacy is essential to the learning and development of knowledge, skills, and abilities (Klassen & Klassen, 2018). Employees with high self-efficacy for a task will experience more positive emotions about the task and will be motivated to apply more effort toward task fulfillment.

Managers can affect employee self-efficacy to be motivated to persist in performing creative tasks. An individual's self-efficacy in their ability to sustain performance levels is important (McGee & Peterson, 2017). Bandura (1977, 1994, 1997) posited that influences on self-efficacy beliefs include 4 categories: (a) enactive mastery, (b) vicarious modeling, (c) verbal persuasion, or (d) affective arousal. Managers can also improve employee self-efficacy by providing training instruction on desired tasks (Chao et al., 2017; Kirsten, 2018; Weston, 2018). In helping to improve employee self-efficacy beliefs, managers aid employees' persistence in achieving and maintaining higher work performance. Understanding how social cognitive theory works in creative industry firms may ultimately assist in enhancing creative performance.

Enactive Mastery. Enactive mastery experience provides actual evidence of whether an employee can do what it takes to perform assigned tasks. According to Bandura (1997), enactive mastery is an individual's experience in having successfully or unsuccessfully performed specific tasks. Enactive mastery practices are the most influential source of self-efficacy (Kolo et al., 2017) and are actual performances on the part of individuals who assess the results of previous experiences to judge their ability

(Capa-Aydin et al., 2018). Creative industry firms rely on the creative performance of employees for business success (Kalyar & Kalyar, 2018). If a creative industry employee has previously executed a creative task successfully, the employee is more apt to feel capable of performing well in a similar creative task in the future.

Enhancements in employee self-efficacy occur through enactive mastery experiences. A person's self-efficacy perception may enhance when the person interprets their past experiences as successful, and conversely, a person's self-efficacy perception may lessen when the person perceives their past experiences as unsuccessful (Capa-Aydin et al., 2018). Of the sources of self-efficacy, Zarei and Naghdi (2017) found that enactive mastery experience had a significant effect on a participant's performance. Enactive mastery experience is an effective way to enhance employee self-efficacy as workers are more inclined to believe they can execute a new assignment if it is similar to something they have previously performed.

Managers can influence employee self-efficacy to persist in performing creative tasks through enactive experiences, allowing employees to practice creative skills in various contexts. A positive relationship has been found between performance results and sense of self-efficacy (Beatson et al., 2018). Influencing employee self-efficacy through mastery experiences is achievable by letting employees acquire the knowledge and skills needed to execute desired behaviors (Bandura, 1986, 1997). By facilitating enactive mastery experiences, creative industry firm managers can determine whether employees can perform assigned tasks and can help employees to make creative performance adjustments if needed.

Vicarious Modeling. Vicarious modeling can improve employee self-efficacy motivation to perform. Social cognitive theory suggests that individuals learn by observing, imitating, or modeling one other (Bandura, 1977). Vicarious learning is individual learning that transpires through exposure to another person demonstrating a behavior or activity and making meaning from the other person's experience (Myers, 2018). An individual's motivation to execute observed behaviors is fundamental to vicarious learning, as a person will only emulate another's modeled behavior if the person perceives that the behavior will bring favorable outcomes to one demonstrating it (Bandura, 1977; Myers, 2018). Bakker et al. (2016) used social cognitive theory to investigate the effects of employees modeling job behaviors of their coworkers and found coworker-modeled behavior positively influenced employee work engagement. Afota et al. (2019) found that workers imitate their supervisors' work-related behaviors through vicarious learning. An individual's self-efficacy can, therefore, be enhanced through modeling the performance of others, and managers can impact employee self-efficacy motivation to perform tasks through the facilitation of vicarious experience or modeling.

Impacting employee self-efficacy through vicarious modeling can improve employee creative performance. Zheng and Liu (2017) noted that vicarious learning occurs when individuals change their efficacy beliefs by observing role models.

Employee self-efficacy at work is positively related to creative performance (Zheng & Liu, 2017). Experience needed for performance improvement is vicariously attainable when managers generate opportunities for employees to observe others engaged in similar creative performance tasks. Vicarious modeling can be particularly effective

when the observer has limited experience with the task or has minimal feedback on past performances (Okhakhu et al., 2016). Through vicarious modeling, managers in creative industry firms may impact employee self-efficacy to enhance employee creative performance needed for business profitability and success.

Verbal Persuasion. Additionally, an individual's self-efficacy to persist in executing tasks can improve through verbal persuasion (Clark & Newberry, 2018). Verbal persuasion, also referred to as *augmented* or *auditory feedback* (Abbas & North, 2018), is the encouragement employees receive in the form of positive verbal feedback (Moradkhani et al., 2017). Feedback given during or after an employee executes a skill is the most effective performance-enhancing technique (Jug et al., 2019). Verbal persuasion may improve self-efficacy toward creative performance enhancement.

Using verbal persuasion to enhance employee self-efficacy can positively affect employee performance. Moradkhani and Haghi (2017) suggested that self-efficacy increases when employees receive positive feedback on their performance. Verbal persuasion effectiveness depends on how the recipient of the feedback views the person giving the feedback (Moradkhani et al., 2017). If the employee deems the feedback giver as trustworthy or an expert, the feedback giver will exert more influence on employee self-efficacy (Moradkhani & Haghi, 2017). Managers of creative industry firms can use verbal persuasion and auditory feedback to influence employee self-efficacy motivation to perform assigned tasks. Knowledge of how verbal persuasion improves worker self-efficacy motivation may lead to a lessening of substandard performance and an increase

in the enhanced performances creative industry firms need for profitability and competitive standing.

Affective Arousal. Affective arousal is an additional source of self-efficacy enhancement. The concept of affective arousal is concerned with the way people interpret their self-efficacy beliefs based on their emotional and physiological states (Bandura, 1997; Webb-Williams, 2017). Physiological or affective states originate from corporeal aspects, such as an individual's heart rate, and involve a person's emotions, stress, and interpretations of bodily symptoms (Zientek et al., 2019). Affective arousal occurs when individuals are emotionally charged and can extract information from their own physiological or emotional states of well-being relative to their capacity to effectively execute challenging tasks (Bandura, 1989; Yang et al., 2017). Physiological and emotional states promote self-efficacy information (Ooi et al., 2018). Ascribing stressful feelings to a lack of ability to complete a task reduces self-efficacy, and perceiving stress symptoms normatively as opposed to a detriment enhances self-efficacy toward task accomplishment.

Affective arousals can affect employee self-efficacy motivation and persistence toward successfully performing tasks. Rhew et al. (2018) suggested that when individuals attend to positive feelings while persisting in executing challenging tasks, they can promote self-efficacy motivation. Despite recurring frustrating failures, by regulating the affect experienced during creative processes, creative performers persisted in generating exceptional creative products (Agnoli et al., 2019). Influencing employee positive

affective states may improve worker self-efficacy motivation to enhance creative performance.

Training. Training involves providing employees with instructions and information needed to execute their jobs successfully. By providing training on specific tasks, managers can improve employee self-efficacy motivation (Bandura, 1995; Nebocat, 2017), which is an important consideration for creative industry firms seeking to motivate employees toward increased creative performance. Nawarini et al. (2018) found that creative industry worker human capital can be increased by involving workers in training. Nawarini et al. suggested that providing training will enhance creative business actors' ability and motivation to improve individual performance, which may ultimately benefit business outcomes.

Social cognitive theory was ideal for a discussion on strategies to affect employee self-efficacy, such as enactive mastery, vicarious modeling, verbal persuasion, affective arousal, or training, to influence workers' motivation toward performing creative tasks. Self-efficacy is a critical psychological mechanism for motivating employees (Bandura, 1997; Moreira-Fontan et al., 2019). Underlining social cognitive theory is that self-efficacy beliefs provide employees with a self-motivating tool that galvanizes an effort to target behavior toward goals and to persist over time (Harinie et al., 2017). Key aspects of creative performance involve generating and implementing novel ideas, products, and services on a consistent basis.

Increases in self-efficacy beliefs within an individual stimulate new idea generation, dissemination, and implementation within a person (Mielniczuk & Laguna,

2018). Ng and Lucianetti (2016) suggested that the social cognitive theory explains how and why increases in aspects within a person affect perceptions and internal factors within the person, leading to increases in creativity and self-efficacy. Social cognitive theory applies to this study with its focus on employee conceptions of their ability to meet creative performance goals and on managers' decisions to influence worker motivation toward performing creative tasks.

Supporting and Contrasting Theories

There are several contrasting contemporary or modern theories of learning motivation to perform. Contemporary theories of motivation evolved from earlier theories of motivation (Al-Harthy, 2016). Cook and Artino (2016) suggested that contemporary theories of motivation include conceptions pertaining to beliefs about one's competence. Modern theories of motivation portray learners as active participants who attach meanings to their learning states with individual beliefs about their abilities to exert control over a given task (Aleksic-Glisovic et al., 2019). Social cognitive theory, expectancy-value theory, attribution theory, goal orientation theory, and self-determination theory are contemporary theories that address motivation (Cook & Artino, 2016).

There are similarities in the social cognitive, expectancy-value, attribution, goal orientation, and self-determination theories; however, each focuses on different aspects of motivation. Contemporary theories of motivation contrast traditional theories in that contemporary theories include concepts about beliefs concerning capabilities and suggest motivation to perform includes both cognitive and social elements (Cook & Artino,

2016). Earlier theories of motivation are behaviorally based and typically ignore environmental impacts on individual motivation to perform. Social cognitive theory, for instance, suggests that individuals perform based on beliefs, values, and goals (Al-Harthy, 2016), rather than out of concern for behavioral consequences. Social cognitive theory informs this study.

Expectancy-Value Theory. Expectancy-value theory is a contemporary theory of motivation. According to Fishbein and Ajzen (1975), expectancy-value theory proposes that the level at which a person values a goal and the extent to which a person expects to succeed at a goal determines the behavior a person will exhibit. Under the expectancy-value theory, motivation is a function of the expectation of success and perceived value. A person's expectation of success is the extent to which a person believes they will be successful if they attempt something, whereas task value is the extent to which a person perceives significance, worth, or interest in undertaking the task (Cook & Artino, 2016). Given the expectancy-value theory, workers are motivated to perform if they believe their efforts will produce a good performance, and good performance will produce desired rewards (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). Expectancy-value theory is associated with this study in that it reflects the cognitive processes related to motivation.

The expectancy-value theory of motivation is associated with persistence, performance, and achievement orientation. Based on the expectancy-value theory, a person's choices, perseverance, and goal attainment predict the expectation of successful outcomes and the value the person places on the achievement context (Chopra, 2019). If an individual believes a successful outcome is possible when engaging in a task, but the

individual does not have a compelling reason to perform the task, the person will refrain from exerting considerable effort (Meyer et al., 2019). Conversely, according to Meyer et al. (2019), if a person perceives a task as important, but also views the same task as unlikely to be fulfilled, the person may opt to engage in a different task with a greater likelihood of success.

Expectancy and value are related to effort expenditure toward work-task based information seeking motivation. Under the expectancy-value theory, expectancy is the extent to which an individual believes they will succeed, and value is the characteristic an individual attaches to success (Baciu, 2017). An individual's value will vary positively with perceived benefits and to the contrary with perceived costs (Eskreis-Winkler et al., 2016). The expectancy-value theory is useful for conducting empirical examinations of adult learner motivation and providing an in-depth account of the structure of adult learner expectancies and values or motivation (Karim et al., 2017). Beiua and Davidescu (2018) used the expectancy theory to perform an empirical study to examine the level of overall motivation amongst workers from differing regions, companies, and occupational sectors. Beiua and Davidescu found that expectancy theory was an appropriate means for explaining the process of motivating workers and for noting significant differences in motivational factors in different regions, companies, and sectors. If managers in creative industry sectors understand factors for motivating workers toward enhanced creative performance in the region identified in this study, it may positively affect business outcomes.

Attribution Theory. Attribution theory is a cognitive theory of motivation associated with the causes of a person's success or failure and inclinations to avoid undesirable outcomes to maintain a favorable self-image. Introduced by Weiner (1985), the attribution theory encompasses both cognitive and affective aspects influencing human behavior and suggests that a person's attributions for success or failure determines the amount of effort a person will expend performing a task. Weiner (2018) demonstrated how differing causal ascriptions leads to different motivational results. Following an event, individuals engage in a causal examination of the event to understand the occurrence and to glean guidance for succeeding behavior and affect (Muschetto & Siegel, 2019). Creative industry employees who perceive control of their attributions may believe they are capable of ultimately determining creative performance outcomes.

Attribution is the process an individual uses to explain the causes of their behavior and occurrences. Fishman and Husman (2017) opined that attribution-related beliefs enhance the quality of causal thinking and help to sustain a sense of autonomy and well-being. An individual's causal thought process significantly influences learning and performance motivation (Fishman & Husman, 2017). If creative industry workers perceive they are capable of affecting their work process, they are more motivated to do so and are more inclined to avert undesirable motivational outcomes.

The attribution theory of motivation is relevant to organizations and individual performance. Hewett et al. (2017) put forth that the attribution theory of motivation is pertinent because the theory is useful for those seeking to gain an understanding of organizational factors concerning human resource management functions. Pardo and

Alfonso (2017) used attribution theory to determine the factors that contributed to the failure of entrepreneurial ventures and found that one of the main attributions of entrepreneurial failure was organizational issues. Attribution theory is a useful framework for understanding how individuals performing an activity interpret circumstances involving success or failure. Schneider-Grings and Hentschke (2016) used the attribution theory model for investigating how attributions made by participants of a music course revealed their performance perceptions. Attribution theory of motivation applies to organizational and individual performance as it involves the cognitive processing of events into attributions needed for decision making and performance.

Goal Orientation Theory. Goal orientation theory is a contemporary social-cognitive theory that highlights a person's need to establish goals as intrinsic motivation. Ames (1984) and Dweck (1986) posited that the goal orientation theory examines what motivates individuals to achieve in settings. The central idea surrounding goal orientation theory is that individuals tend to engage in tasks with concerns about mastering content, performing better than others, or avoiding failure (Cook & Artino, 2016). Theories on goal orientation address differences among approach and avoidance and presume that people have comparatively stable dispositions, which infer a propensity to achieve positive outcomes or avoid negative consequences (Wimmer et al., 2018). Goal orientations denote cognitive depictions of a person's motives for achievement involvement (Wimmer et al., 2018). As a social-cognitive theory of achievement motivation, goal orientation theory is associated with this study on strategies to motivate employees to enhance creative performance.

Achievement motivation is associated with goal orientation theory. Achievement goal orientations drive employee behavior and define how employees may assess and approach work performance situations (Bardach et al., 2020). Aldahdouh et al. (2018) found that mastery goal orientation is positively related to individual innovativeness. Goal orientation theory can offer an understanding of individual employees' self-regulatory behaviors toward innovative endeavors in achievement environments. An awareness of creative worker cognitions and inclinations toward task achievement may give creative industry managers insight into ways to motivate better creative performance.

Propositions of goal orientation theory are related to organizations. The long-term effectiveness and efficiency of a firm could reflect the performance orientation of the firm. The theory regarding goal orientation relates to organizations in explaining why some workers will be more challenging to work with than other workers (Kanfer et al., 2017). Creative industries can train and awaken managers to the motivational orientations their workers bring to the work environment so managers can develop strategies that would allow creative workers to achieve goal orientation related performance expectations.

Self-Determination Theory. Self-determination theory is one of the most empirically supported modern theories of motivation. Deci and Ryan (1985) suggested that self-determination is a quality of human functioning involving the experience of choices that becomes determinants of an individual's actions. Self-determination theory evolved from research on intrinsic and extrinsic motivations to include research on work

organizations (Deci et al., 2017). The tenets of self-determination theory are that employee well-being and performance are affected by the type of motivation they have for their job activities (Deci & Ryan, 1985). Self-determination theory differentiates the types of motivation employees may have and suggests that different types and varying degrees of motivation have different outcomes (Deci et al., 2017; Howard et al., 2018). Low degrees of employee motivation may result in substandard employee performance in creative industry firms.

Aspects of the self-determination theory expound on the dynamics of motivation, need satisfaction, and well-being. According to the self-determination theory, intrinsic motivation is innate, and individuals inherently seek to integrate experiences to the self and strive to be self-agents (Shin et al., 2019). A proposal of the self-determination theory is that the satisfaction of employee's relatedness, competence, and autonomy needs during the employee's involvement in an activity will increase intrinsic motivation and enjoyment in the activity (Ryan & Deci, 2017). When individuals have opportunities to satisfy needs, they become more self-determined in their motivation, actions, and well-being, whereas reduced need satisfaction lessens self-determined motivation, action, and well-being (Ryan & Deci, 2017). Given effective strategies to satisfy employee needs, creative industry managers may improve self-determined worker motivation toward enhanced creative performance.

The application of self-determination has significance for organizations. Self-determination could be significant in performance outcomes that involve creativity, cognitive agility, and self-esteem (Suwanti, 2019). Fundamental to self-determination

theory is that different types of motivation involve work performance outcomes (Howard et al., 2018). Self-determination theory recognizes that an individual employee's self-interest does not differ from organizational interests. Under self-determination theory, employee motivation is a continuum from autonomous to controlled motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2017). When workers have interesting tasks, they are autonomously motivated to perform the tasks expected of them, precluding any necessity for extrinsic incentives to motivate them to perform (Groen et al., 2017). The relevance for creative industry organizations is that managers can use self-determination theory to identify and influence employee intrinsic motivation to perform creative tasks.

Social cognitive theory, expectancy-value theory, attribution theory, goal orientation theory, and self-determination theory are a few of the myriad of theories that address motivation (Ames, 1984; Bandura, 1977; Deci & Ryan, 1985; Dweck, 1986; Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975; Weiner, 1985). Value, attributions, competence, and interactions between persons and the learning context are recurring themes in each of the theories mentioned (Cook & Artino, 2016). Social cognitive theory of learning motivation aligns with this study because self-efficacy is a primary driver of motivation (Nykanen et al., 2019). The strength of social cognitive self-efficacy theory relative to the other contemporary theories of learning motivation is that it considers the environmental factors affecting motivated action (Oyibo et al., 2018) and identifies 4 factors that influence self-efficacy. Self-efficacy in social cognitive theory is dynamic and context-specific (Pachu et al., 2020). Managers of creative industry firms can influence employee self-efficacy and motivation toward creative performance using enactive mastery and

vicarious experiences, verbal persuasions, and affective arousal strategies proposed in the social cognitive theory.

Creative Industries

Creative industries are an indispensable part of the U.S. economy. The creative sector includes art, design, film, video, architecture, software and games, advertising, publishing, music, broadcasting, and research and development firms (Skavronska, 2017). Creative industries are amongst the fastest growing economic sectors (National Endowment of the Arts, [NEA], 2019). The Bureau of Economic Analysis (2019) reported that creative industry performers generated \$386 billion in compensation and contributed \$804.2 billion to the U.S. economy. Boix-Domenech and Rausell-Koster (2018) noted that creative industries are the connection between business, arts, technologies, and culture and are the core of the creative economy. Creative industry firms are influenced by the convergence of various technologies (Abbasi et al., 2017) and are catalysts for the innovation needed to respond to rapidly changing demands (Fleischmann et al., 2017). When managers of creative industry firms lead workers in exceeding changing innovative demands, it can result in improved economic standing for the firm, the creative industry, and the U.S. economy. To lead workers in exceeding changing innovative demands, managers of creative industry firms need effective strategies to motivate employees to enhance creative performance.

Creative inputs result in the generation of new ideas, products, or services needed for creative industry firms to thrive economically. Creative inputs of employees define the creative industry. Chang (2018) suggested that worker creative input or talent is the

most important resource of creativity and profit in creative industries. Creative industry firms engage new value creation processes through the provision of innovative services (Protogerou et al., 2017). Innovative demands have a significant impact on creative industries and the individuals working within the sector. Innovations are essential for both economic and social development, and creativity is a vital condition for innovations to take place (Taura & Nagai, 2017). Protogerou et al. (2017) found that creative industry firms outperform noncreative industry firms in product innovation. Acting as agents of innovation and creativity, individual employees, along with their experience and expertise, are vital contributors to an organization's economic standing (Nawarini et al., 2018).

Creative industry business economic standings are not static. Global expansions, advances in technology, and other marketplace conditions affect the economic activity of businesses in creative industries (Skavronska, 2017). Organizations in creative industry sectors operate in competitive dynamic environments plagued by the constant need to adapt (Oliver, 2017). Creative industry firms operating under dynamic conditions are compelled to concentrate on innovations and innovative processes (Games & Rendi, 2019). The ability to generate innovative product and service creations in an increasingly competitive environment provides creative industry firms with valuable advantages over their competitors (Distanont & Khongmalai, 2018). The problem is substandard innovative and creative capabilities of employees in creative industry firms result in weak competitive advantage and poor business performance (Herawati et al., 2018). Managers

in creative industry firms should implement strategies to enhance employee innovative and creative capabilities for better economic standing.

Creative industries are different from other industries. What differentiates creative industries from other industries is the significance of creative output and the high degree of uncertainty (Casper & Storz, 2017). Organizations in creative industries are also cross-sectional as they provide creative products, services, and ideas to other firms as well as to consumers (Casper & Storz, 2017). Unlike other industries, creative industries are precarious due to the working conditions under which creative performers operate (Munro, 2017). Freelance work, self-employment, apprenticeships, and expectations of hypermobility and hyper-flexibility permeate creative industries (Munro, 2016, 2017). Creative industries differ in that they do not follow traditional career patterns employed by other industries.

Dissimilar to other industries, work in some creative industry firms is sporadic, and career patterns differ. Workers in creative industry firms engage in short-term temporary projects, undertake multiple assignments, and engage in both creative and noncreative work (Daniel, 2016). Career patterns and progressions in creative industries are boundary-less as workers navigate different regions, firms, and industries. Musial (2017) suggested that boundary-less careers are problematic for creative industry managers because creative work is not confined to set periods and can occur at any time. Creative industry work and career patterns differ from other industries because they are independent of traditional career patterns.

Creative industry's business strategy differs from other industries. Firms in creative industries devise strategies which include using nonhuman as well as human resources on a temporary, short-term basis, within limited time frames to execute creative projects (van Laar et al., 2020). Strategies in creative industry sectors also focus on commercial approaches to creative production, market expansion of creative goods and services, and promoting innovation and creativity (Flew, 2017). While increasing market focus, creative industry firms require creative workers to develop business acumen to assist in bringing artistic and creative products to market (Santoro et al., 2020). Business acumen is significant in enhancing perceived earnings and reducing the precariousness of creative industry work for creative workers (Hennekam & Bennett, 2017). As a part of their business strategy, managers of creative industry firms must identify individuals with business acumen and creativity who can work collaboratively or must use interventions to help creative industry workers with motivation to acquire those competencies.

Successful execution of creative projects in creative industries requires creative, strategic planning. Creative industry workers operate in precarious, unpredictable, dynamic sectors (Munro, 2017), beset by a constant need to adapt to meet innovative demands. Borshalina (2019) found that creative industry firm's use of raw material innovation and technology in production innovation strategies improved organizational competitiveness. Hennekam and Bennett (2017) purported that creative industry workers are highly educated and are expected to manage precarious work demands. Workers in creative industry sectors need to develop new ways of thinking and learning, which enable them to meet creative and innovative expectations readily (Hennekam & Bennett,

2017). Creative industry managers need to devise strategies to ensure that workers can effectively execute the generation of innovative and creative assignments while working in precarious, unpredictable, and dynamic environments needed for creative business profitability and competitive standing.

Creative Performance

Creative performance is vital to the success of creative industry firms operating in dynamic competitive environments. Zhang et al. (2017) indicated that creative performance is one's ability to generate novel and useful ideas concerning workplace processes and procedures. Employee creative performance is essential human capital, which contributes to a firm's profitability and competitive standing (Kamasak, 2017). Creativity is a key factor for organizational survival and longevity (Allahar, 2018), as employee inability to produce creative works threaten the sustainability of creative industry firms. Managers in creative industry firms seek to enhance employee creative performance needed to build capacity to meet innovative demands in dynamic competitive environments (Radomska et al., 2019). Building capacity to meet innovative demands helps creative industry firms' profitability and competitive standing.

Managers in creative industry firms can affect employee creative performance. Leader behaviors, personality, and expectations are some of the primary drivers of creative performance (Zhao & Guo, 2019). Affirmative leader behaviors have positive effects on employee creative performance (Zheng & Liu, 2017). For instance, leader motivating language can encourage creativity and is critical to positive employee perceptions of a highly creative environment (Mayfield & Mayfield, 2017). Negative

leader behaviors have adverse effects on performance (Zheng & Liu, 2017). For example, derived from the social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986), researchers found that abusive supervision undermines employee creative performance by decreasing employee self-efficacy in the workplace (Zheng & Liu, 2017). To positively affect employee creative performance, creative industry managers may need to apply motivating language to increase employee self-efficacy toward creative performance enhancements.

Creative Self-Efficacy

Creative self-efficacy is essential to creative performance. Creative self-efficacy is a distinct type of self-efficacy (Han & Bai, 2020), which concerns a person's self-conception that they have the capabilities to successfully produce creative outcomes or engage in creative performance (Wang et al., 2018). Bandura (2001) purported that creative self-efficacy is rooted in social cognitive theory. Underscoring the social cognitive theory is that self-efficacy is an essential driver of individual performance success. Self-efficacy is a central motivational factor in creative and innovative processes (Bandura, 1997), and creative self-efficacy is a significant predictor of creative performance (Pretz & Nelson, 2017). As it relates to creative self-efficacy and social cognitive theory, creative performance is more likely to occur if employees have the appropriate knowledge, behavioral abilities, and creative thinking abilities (Walumbwa et al., 2018). Employees with high levels of creative self-efficacy apply adequate effort towards engagement in creative cognitive processes, which lead to the generation of original ideas and works (Jiang & Gu, 2017). As creative self-efficacy is important for

creative performance in creative industry firms, managers need to use strategies to increase worker's level of creative self-efficacy.

Employee creative self-efficacy is essential to innovative and creative outcomes in creative industry firms. Creative self-efficacy is positively related to employee innovative behavior (Grosser et al., 2017), and has a positive effect on creative performance (Intasao & Hao, 2018). Through persistence, sustained effort, and trial-and-error, employees can accomplish creative performance assignments. Individual creative performance will depend on cognitive activity or the extent to which each person perceives they can be creative (Beghetto & Karwowski, 2017). How an individual perceives his or her abilities as they relate to creative self-efficacy is vital to the successful completion of creative tasks (Royston & Reiter-Palmon, 2019). Successful completion of creative tasks leads to innovative and creative outcomes in creative industry firms. Provided with strategies to affect work self-efficacy motivation, managers may support worker's successful execution of innovative and creative outcomes needed for creative industry business survival.

Individual employee work-engagement is affected by creative self-efficacy. He et al. (2019) found that creative self-efficacy is positively related to innovative work engagement. Moreira-Fontan et al. (2019) found that self-efficacy and managerial support predicted employee positive affective states of motivation towards work engagement and successful performance. From a motivational standpoint, employee work engagement is similar to self-efficacy in that it focuses on individual employee's cognitive conceptions about meeting organizational objectives (Carter et al., 2018). Engaged employees with

higher levels of creative self-efficacy were more inclined to (a) effectively execute creative cognitive processes needed to complete challenging tasks, (b) persist in generating novel ideas, (c) be goal-oriented, and (d) be self-motivated toward goal accomplishment (Chen, 2017). Creative industry managers may improve individual employee work engagement by aiding workers in achieving higher levels of creative self-efficacy needed to enhance creative performance.

Creative self-efficacy is the assuredness of one's ability to perform specific tasks in innovative ways. Christensen-Salem et al. (2020) suggested that creative self-efficacy is an indication of an individual's motivation to persist in meeting challenging performance expectations. To meet innovative goals, creative industry firms must have employees with creative self-efficacy to develop creative ideas for new products or services. Newman et al. (2018) found that creative self-efficacy effects on employee innovative behaviors were more influential when a strong entrepreneurial leader managed the workers. Newman et al. (2018) findings remain consistent with social cognitive theory tenets in that they posit that leader's role modeling of innovative behaviors to workers fosters innovative behavior of workers with higher levels of creative self-efficacy. Enhanced employee creative self-efficacy or assuredness in a worker's ability to perform innovative tasks is a motivator toward the achievement of higher levels of creative performance.

Creativity

Creativity, which is essential for creative industry firm success, is the initial step toward innovation. Revilla and Rodriguez-Prado (2018) suggested that creativity is the

first stage of an innovative process. Amabile (1988) defined creativity as the ability to formulate useful products, services, processes, and procedures. Creativity is a way of developing original ideas and identifying new viewpoints and is the capacity to utilize existing knowledge to develop innovations (Petro & Farlens, 2018). Creativity has three major stages: (a) development of critical knowledge and skills, (b) creative production, and (c) innovation (Heilman, 2016). Innovation is the implementation of conceptualized ideas in ways that are valuable to stakeholders in the marketplace (Dziallas & Blind, 2019). Innovativeness and firm performance are affected by creativity (Stojcic et al., 2018). Creative industry businesses rely on employee creativity to generate novel ideas, products, and services needed for innovation. Knowing effective strategies to motivate employee creativity to generate novel ideas, products, and services, managers of creative industry firms may ensure business success.

Creative industry firms deem creativity necessary for longevity and survival.

Creativity is essential for organizational performance and is a crucial component in organizational structures (Olsson et al., 2019). Ionescu and Bolcas (2017) found that employee creativity and innovative potential is key to achieving a sustainable competitive advantage. Creativity is a major competency for employees working in creative industry firms. Ritter and Mostert (2017) posited that creative thinking skills are a key competency needed to respond to increased innovative demands and creative performance decrements in rapidly changing business environments. Creative workers need creative cognitive abilities and creative problem-solving skills. According to Tan et al. (2019), there is a relationship between creativity, problem-solving, and coping

abilities. Creative performers also require knowledge and expertise in their professional field. Amabile (2007) provided three components of creativity: (a) creative thinking skills, (b) inner task-motivation, and (c) domain-relevant knowledge or expertise.

Effective use of each of the three components is necessary for an individual to produce creative work required for creative industry firm long-term success.

Employee workplace creativity can generate added value for creative industry firms operating in dynamic environments. Miao and Cao (2019) found that highperformance work systems are positively related to employee creativity. Workplace creativity occurs when employees work on assigned tasks independently or collectively in groups (Hon & Lui, 2016). Workplace creativity is not a random process. There are phases to creative processes: (a) attraction, (b) inspiration, (c) experiment, (d) refinement, and (e) sales (Teymournejad & Elghaei, 2017). The attraction phase is the initial stage of interest in a subject requiring novelty. Inspiration is the stage concerning an idea or remedy following investigations with raw material. In the experiment phase, the idea formulated is examined to decide if it is useful. Ideas are re-evaluated several times during the refinement stage. Sales, which is the final step, involves presenting the concept to consumers (Teymournejad & Elghaei, 2017). Creative efforts can be managed during each phase of the creative process to ensure the fulfillment of organizational goals. Understanding how creative processes work, managers may assist employee creative performance needed to generate value for creative industry firms' competitive standing in dynamic business environments.

Managing. Managing employee creativity to generate novel ideas, products, and services needed for innovation is an important challenge in creative industry firms. Chang and Teng (2017) posted that supporting employee creativity is a major human resource challenge for 21st-century firms. Worker creativity is critical to organizational innovativeness, profitability, and survival (Cai et al., 2019). The main finding in a study conducted by Allahar (2018) is that to ensure organizational sustainability, managers must take full responsibility for promoting employee creative behavior as a precursor to innovation. Creativity workers are required to find ways to challenge conventional modes of operating across organizations. In managing creativity workers business leaders must pursue ways to enhance employee creative outcomes (Cai et al., 2019). Creativity managers have to find the means to assist employees in meeting the organizational objectives of finding ways to challenge conventional ways of operating.

The creative inputs of employees are foundational to a creative industry firm's competitive advantage and success. Endeavors toward enhancements in creative output are often restricted by constraints such as organizational rules, deadlines, and limited resources (Acar et al., 2019). When considering creativity from a business standpoint, the need to manage creativity becomes a priority for business leaders (Malmelin & Virta, 2016). Acar et al. (2019) suggested that managers should be aware of ways to address constraints at all levels in the organization, including using motivational, time saving, and supportive leadership techniques. Managers may influence employee creative inputs through mitigating constraints, which allow workers to focus on assigned tasks and to formulate novel ideas needed for competitive advantage and success.

Manager's leadership style may affect employee creativity. The type of leadership style a manager exhibits in the workplace may result in better creative outcomes (Griffith et al., 2018). To foster creative performance, managers can use the empowering leadership style to establish an employment setting in which workers can be creative (Chow, 2018). Transformational and transactional leadership styles affect creativity. Naqvi et al. (2017) posited that manager transformational leadership styles positively influence worker's innovative behavior through employee's creativity, and transactional leadership style positively affects a worker's innovative behavior directly. A leader's own creativity may impact worker creative performance. Wen et al. (2017) found that leader creativity identification moderated the effects of worker-role creativity and manager-role creativity on team creativity and individual worker creativity. Creativity managers have to know which leadership style would be most appropriate for enhancing employee creative performance.

Measuring. Creativity or creative output can be measured. Creative performance can be assessed quickly and easily using the Torrance Tests of Creative Thinking (Torrance, 1972). The test, which takes 30 minutes to complete, includes three picture-based activities, each of which occurs in ten minutes (Bart et al., 2017). The Torrance Test of Creative Thinking (TTCT) has two different forms, the TTCT Figural and the TTCT Verbal. Creativity can be measured using testing methods. The TTCT Figural and the TTCT Verbal are the most commonly used testing methods (Kim, 2017). Bart et al. (2017) indicated that the TTCT Figural is a wide-ranging application that measures creative thinking skills among youth up to identifying creative adults. Managers of

creative industry firm employees can use the TTCT to quickly and easily measure employee creative output needed to determine business profitability.

The TTCT was employed to evaluate the utility of taking a creative thinking course and changes in individual creativity after training. Using the TTCT, Perry and Karpova (2017) found that individuals generate more unique ideas after completing a creative thinking course. Utilizing the TTCT, researchers also found that individuals were more amenable to taking risks with their ideas and were more assured of their creative abilities after participating in a creative thinking course (Perry & Karpova, 2017).

Managers can use the TTCT to find strategies to increase employee's ability to generate new ideas, to help employees take risks, and to enhance employee self-efficacy in their creative abilities.

Creativity is also measurable using Remote Associates Tests (RAT). The RAT is an assessment instrument for measuring creative thought, not requiring knowledge in a particular field (Mednick, 1962). The RAT design is a domain-general measure for examining individual differences in the ability to form associative elements into new combinations (Toivainen et al., 2019). The RAT seeks to measure convergent thinking by providing participants with three unrelated stimuli words and requesting participants to find a fourth solution word that forms a compound association with each of the given words (Cortes et al., 2019). The RAT instrument is useful in studying an individual's insight (Agnoli et al., 2016), and is helpful in analyzing constructs such as creativity and problem solving (Pick & Lavidor, 2019). Managers may use the RAT instrument to

determine employee potential for generating creative output and avoiding substandard creative performance that would adversely affect creative industry business outcomes.

To measure creative achievement potential, managers can use the Creative Achievement Questionnaire (CAQ). The CAQ is a questionnaire that assesses creative accomplishments in 10 domains and focuses on significant, observable accomplishments (Wertz et al., 2020). De Manzano and Ullen (2018) used the CAQ to examine whether the comparative effect of genes and environment on the associations between personality, intelligence, and creative achievement differs between the arts and sciences. The Creative Activity and Accomplishment Checklist (CAAC) is another creativity assessment tool. The CAAC is a self-report instrument used to measure creative achievement and creativity accomplishments in the artistic, scientific, and everyday life domains (Hocevar, 1981; Holland, 1960). Agnoli et al. (2018) used the CAAC to measure creative achievement in a study on the influence of motivation on creative achievement in different environments. To ensure employees are meeting creative performance expectations, managers can use the CAQ or the CAAC creativity assessment instruments mentioned in this study on enhancing creative performance or a myriad of other tools currently available.

Rewarding. Employee creativity is affected by intrinsic and extrinsic rewards. Extrinsic rewards are transactional and tangible forms of compensation, for instance, monetary awards and base pay (Fischer et al., 2019). Intrinsic rewards aim to appease internal interests and purpose to anticipate a physiological response from within an individual (McDuff & Kapoor, 2018). Chand et al. (2019) identified that both intrinsic

and extrinsic rewards positively impact creativity and that rewards enhance employee creative behavior. Nigusie and Getachew (2019) suggested that reward systems are integral to employee creativity and found that intrinsic rewards are more of a contributing factor to motivating employee creativity than extrinsic rewards. To address employee creativity for organizational profitability and sustainability, managers may make effective use of both intrinsic and extrinsic rewards systems.

Motivating for Higher Levels of Creative Performance

Employees need to be motivated to persist in accomplishing goals, to be engaged, and to achieve higher levels of creative performance. Motivation is the process of developing, guiding, and maintaining goal-oriented behaviors that lead persons to take action to achieve a goal or to fulfill a need (Gopalan et al., 2017). Employee motivation is a major managerial function involving deliberate efforts to influence worker behavior toward meeting organizational objectives (Stachowska & Czaplicka-Kozłowska, 2017). Motivating is an important managerial skill. Managers get things done through people (Giles et al., 2018). Creative industry firm managers need motivational skills to get workers to persist in achieving desired results, to commit and be loyal to the organization, and to increase employee's level of creative performance.

Motivated workers are more likely to be more vested in the firm. Employees not motivated apply less effort in their jobs, produce lower quality work, demotivate other workers, and have a high rate of turnover from organizations (Deressa, & Zeru, 2019). Intrinsic motivation is the drive to do something for inherent satisfaction or inherent reward (Howard et al., 2017). Intrinsic motivation is related to internal rewards and is

individually regulated (Di Domenico & Ryan, 2017). Extrinsic motivation concerns the idea that whenever an individual does something, it is to obtain a tangible reward or to avoid a consequence (Howard et al., 2017). Managers in creative industry firms may use either or both intrinsic and extrinsic motivation strategies to motivate employees to perform.

Employees differ in what motivates them. Extrinsic rewards are not the primary motivators of creative performance. With intrinsic strategies, employee creativity motivation, for example, is higher when employees receive supervisor support for creativity (Gkorezis & Kastritsi, 2017). Managers should address intrinsic and extrinsic employee motivations separately and should place greater emphasis on intrinsic motivation (Kuvaas et al., 2017). By addressing intrinsic and extrinsic worker motivation separately, managers in creative industry firms can provide strategies that cater to differing employee motivation needs that may ultimately lead to enhancements in creative performance.

Managers can employ strategies to motivate employees to achieve higher levels of performance. Management competencies, such as being able to motivate employees, are vital to ensuring enhanced performance and commitment business goal attainment (Vijayabanu et al., 2017). Managers can use communication skills or motivating language to positively impact employee self-efficacy to persist in exceeding performance outcomes (Mayfield & Mayfield, 2017). Motivation enhances employee performance quality, efficiency, and effectiveness (Nabi, et al. 2019). Management interventions, such as demonstrating appreciation, are highly necessary for employee motivation toward

quality, efficient, and effective employee performance (Thibault Landry et al., 2017). Providing employees with cognitive rewards such as job security or emotional rewards such as highly esteeming workers motivate increases in creative performance (Khalil et al., 2019). Vijayabanu et al. (2017) found that providing external rewards impacts motivation and performance enhancement. Knowing how to use rewards as strategies to motivate employee creative performance, managers may inevitably reduce any adverse effects of substandard creative performance on the business.

Motivation is important for creative performance achievement. Intrinsic and extrinsic motivators enhance work performance and creativity (Chang & Teng, 2017). Employee creative behavior is affected by their commitment to the organization and by management intervention (Qi et al., 2019). Managers can influence employee creativity or creative performance (Cheng et al., 2019). Zhang et al. (2019) found that motivating employees through the establishment of an empowering work environment can achieve higher sustainable creative performance. Leader encouragement of creativity is integral to the fostering of an environment where employees can sustain innovative and creative performance (Zhang et al., 2019). Managers can use a supportive leadership approach to encourage creative performance achievement.

Innovation. Innovation or the implementation of new products, services, or ideas, is an essential aspect of creative industry business competitiveness. Distanont and Khongmalai (2018) opined that innovation has an important influence on organizational competitive advantage, sustainability, and long-term success. Human factors, such as employee motivation, affect innovation success (Demircioglu & Audretsch, 2017).

Several aspects of cognitive activity, such as creative self-efficacy address innovation. What drives employees to develop new products, services, ideas, or processes can be evaluated with ideas typically found in individual and social cognitive psychology (Iyer et al., 2017). Based on the tenets of the social cognitive theory, managers may influence employee self-efficacy motivation to develop innovations that are essential to creative industry business competitiveness.

Creative competencies of employees are necessary for organizational innovative and creative performance. Self-efficacy competency moderates the relationship between performance and worker creativity needed for innovation (Newman et al., 2018). Human capital, or competencies of employees, is essential for business innovation. Employees with higher levels of creative self-efficacy gain satisfaction from innovative pursuits, set high goals for creative idea generation, and strive to actualize innovative goals (Grosser et al., 2017). Creative industry firm managers could use effective strategies to foster the creative competencies of employees to make performance improvements needed for business effectiveness.

Organizational leaders and managers should find ways to assist creative employees in accomplishing innovative goals. Using social cognitive theory, Cai et al. (2019) studied the connection between creativity and leadership through creative efficacy. Cai et al. found that creative self-efficacy conceptions mediate the relationships between creativity and leadership. Creative workers tend to resist managerial intervention (Cook, 2016). Meeting innovative goals depend on leader's and manager's ability to establish work environments where creative idea generation can flourish (Spekle et al.,

2017). Employee motivation is needed to help workers build creative self-efficacy needed to convert novel ideas into practical innovations. Employee motivation and commitment to perform are associated with individual self-efficacy toward working and improving on their creativity (Cetin & Askun, 2018). The principles of social cognitive theory suggest managers can employ techniques to effect creative employee's self-efficacy motivation toward accomplishing innovative goals.

Creative industry managers need to help employee's innovative performance. Managers can motivate innovative employee performance through inclusive leadership and perceived organizational support (Qi et al., 2019). Creating an atmosphere promoting innovation is accomplished by encouraging knowledge sharing, helping employees to build positive relationships, and generating a collegial and friendly environment (Awang et al., 2019). Employees operating in innovative atmospheres contribute to new idea and product creations, which substantially affects organizational growth and competitive standing (Cheng et al., 2019). Managers in creative industry firms can use strategies to assist employees who are operating in innovative environments to enhance their creative contributions to ensure organizational success.

Enhancing Creative Performance for Organizational Effectiveness

Organizational performance in creative industry firms is directly affected by enhancing individual worker creative performance. Social cognitive theory efficacy beliefs are the basis of the human agency that affects an individual's motivation to engage in distinct positive behaviors related to high performance (Bandura, 2018). Leaders of creative industry firms focus on high levels of creative productivity, which

leads to profitable returns and competitive advantage. Self-efficacy is vital for creative productivity (Bandura, 1997). Higher self-efficacy leads to higher quality creative work (Pretz & Nelson, 2017). Social cognitive theory efficacy conceptions also have a significant effect on how a worker will exert effort and exhibit the motivation needed to meet creative performance goals (Wood & Bandura, 1989). As applied to this study, the social cognitive theory provides a basis for exploring factors such as self-efficacy that relate to high levels of creative workplace performance.

Managers should identify methods of helping employees increase creative performance levels. Managing creative performance can be a challenging undertaking. Managerial paradoxes make it difficult to manage creativity without hindering it (Yeh & Huan, 2017). In managing creative performance, creative industry leaders should try to find a balance between pushing for creative quantity to account for the resources used with allowing the generation of creative quality (Yeh & Huan, 2017). Creativity requires flexibility and individuality, and fostering creative performance necessitates granting workers autonomy, yet managers in creative industries must meet business objectives of satisfying consumer and dynamic industry demands. Yeh and Huan (2017) suggested that granting workers freedom, providing social support, and ensuring workers have the necessary resources, are methods managers can use to positively influence creative performance quantity and quality. Strategies provided, managers of creative industry firms may ensure creative workers are generating innovative products and services needed to maintain competitive standing.

To ensure employees understand and meet creative performance expectations, organizations in creative industries have unwritten guidelines that define creative standards in their firms. Organizations operating in creative industries have informal and implicit rules, or creative codes, regarding what signifies creative excellence as articulated through shared norms, language, outputs, and awards (Windels & Stuhlfaut, 2017). Intense internalization of creative codes or creative norms and values increases creativity (Made et al., 2020). Organizations with intense creative codes realize increases in job satisfaction and collaborative efforts from workers, more divergent thinking and higher levels of creative risk-taking among creative workers (Berkovich-Ohana et al., 2017; Windels & Stuhlfaut, 2017). In creative industry firms, managers can set guidelines, performance standards, and creative codes that would improve employee creative output and curtail substandard creative performance.

Managers of creative industry firms should find practical strategies to help creative workers to navigate the demanding and dynamic environment in which they operate. Creative industry employees typically work in various contexts and on temporary special project teams for short lengths of time (Hennekam & Bennett, 2017). In managing creative performance, creative industry leaders must encourage employees to work together cooperatively. Cooperative interdependence among team members is essential for team creative performance (Zhang & Kwan, 2019). Cooperative teams are cohesive and often make members more motivated to contribute to the team's collective goal and creative success. Cohesive teams lead to collective task engagement, task engagement impacts team creative performance in a positive way, and perceived team

creative performance predicts the development of future team cohesion (Rodriguez-Sanchez et al., 2017). Helping creative teams to build cohesiveness and providing them with more opportunities to engage work tasks together are strategies that may benefit creative performance enhancement.

Managers can help to develop and enhance employee creativity in the workplace. For example, managers can hone creativity by giving employees opportunities to practice desired skills (Windels & Stuhlfaut, 2017). Managers can enhance employee creativity through employee participation in training courses. Training courses designed to stimulate creative thinking increases participant's creative thinking, beliefs in his or her creative abilities, and risk-taking perspectives (Perry & Karpova, 2017). Creative and innovative skills can also be developed and enhanced in virtual learning environments (Songkram, 2017). To develop and enhance creative performance, managers can make online learning opportunities available to employees.

Managers operating in creative industries should have the appropriate competencies to manage employee creative performance. Suggested attributes of those managing creative output include the ability to engage in short-term, medium-term and long-term planning, organizing, motivating, and monitoring of processes, products, and people (Lipka et al., 2017). Management of employee creative performance requires the ability to handle the firm's human resources by effectively utilizing the knowledge, skills, capabilities, and experiences employees bring to the workplace for organizational success. Knowledge management and motivation management effect creativity (Munoz-Pascual & Galende, 2017). Employee's knowledge, experiences, and motivation are

human capital assets employees bring to organizations. In managing creative performance, managers should be able to inspire knowledge management and intrinsic management motivation in employees, as both inspire employee creative performance needed for business success (Munoz-Pascual & Galende, 2017).

Transition

Section 1 included a summary of literature pertaining to creative performance enhancement in creative industry firms. Section 1 also contained the theoretical framework on a motivation theory, key constructs underlying the theory, and supporting and contrasting theories of motivation. Information concerning creative industries, creative industries, creative performance, and creative self-efficacy was also presented in Section 1. Also provided was information on creativity, including managing, measuring and rewarding creativity. Motivating for higher levels of creative performance and innovation and enhancing creative performance for organizational effectiveness strategies were given as well.

Section 2 contains a restatement of the purpose statement, a description of the researcher's role, and participants. Section 2 also includes discussions on the research methodology and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data organization techniques, data analysis, and reliability and validity of the study.

Section 3 consists of an introduction comprising the purpose of the study, the overarching research question, and the presentation of findings. Application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and

future research, reflections on my experience as a researcher, and a conclusion are also present in Section 3.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 comprises the purpose statement and a discussion of the researcher's role and the participants for the study. Also included are an account and justification of the research method and design, population and sampling, and ethical research considerations. Section 2 also includes the reasoning for using a single case study design and purposive sampling technique and descriptions of the data collection process, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization approach, data analysis, and the reliability and validity of the data components.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies used by some managers of creative industry firms to motivate employees to enhance creative performance. The target population for this study was managers in a creative industry firm in the New York tristate area who have successfully motivated employees to enhance creative performance. The implications for positive social change include the potential for greater managerial influence over creative employees' efficacious motivation to introduce new ideas, products, or services, which can lead to the generation of new jobs, increases in personal wealth, and general benefits to communities.

Role of the Researcher

In qualitative case study research, a researcher sets the study protocol (Yin, 2018) and serves as the primary mechanism for collecting, analyzing, and managing qualitative data (Sutton & Austin, 2015). I was the primary researcher in this study. The role of a qualitative researcher is participatory and is prone to potential biases that may affect the

outcome of the study (Clark & Veale, 2018). I do not work in a creative industry firm and am not a member of the participant group. However, I have some experience with creative performance. Qualitative researchers bear the responsibility for mitigating and removing bias that may affect the study (Bryman & Bell, 2015). To mitigate potential biases, I employed my expertise as a human resource management professional with over 20 years of experience and used open-ended questions to conduct unbiased semistructured interviews. Mitigation of potential biases also occurred through identification of personal assumptions or preconceived notions prior to data collection.

Researchers must uphold ethical principles when conducting research involving human subjects (Yip et al., 2016). I completed the National Institutes of Health Office of Extramural Research Protecting Human Research Participation web-based training course (National Institutes of Health, 2019). I complied with the *Belmont Report* protocol. The *Belmont Report* encapsulates ethical principles and guidelines for research involving human subjects and holds three central principles identified as (a) beneficence, (b) justice, and (c) respect for persons (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). In keeping with the three principles, I prepared an informed consent form, which included the risks and benefits of participating in the study. The consent form was available for participants to read and sign before engaging in the study and was used to assure participants that their information would remain confidential.

Researchers use interview protocols to obtain the best possible responses from participants (Benson & Powell, 2015) and to measure participant perceptions and opinions (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I developed an interview procedure to organize

interviews, ask questions, and record answers for this study. In qualitative research, researchers establish and follow interview procedures to maintain consistency in gathering, recording, and organizing data participants (Sooniste et al., 2015). I used an interview protocol (Appendix A) as a procedural guide to remain consistent and fair with each participant while collecting and collating information. The interviews for this study involved a list of interview questions aligned with a specific business problem.

Participants

The participants of this study were creative industry managers in the New York tristate region of the United States. Qualitative researchers must delineate participant attributes that strengthen the focus of the study and must identify participants with those qualities (Dasgupta, 2015). Participants in this study were managers within a creative industry firm who have successfully motivated employees to enhance creative performance. Researchers decisively select participants for a study who will best assist with investigating their research questions (Yin, 2018). I purposefully selected participants by identifying managers of creative performance in creative industry firms who could provide comprehensive data to address the research question.

The selection of participants for a qualitative study affects the validity and quality of the research (Boddy, 2016). Qualitative researchers must choose participants with the depth and range of knowledge necessary for obtaining quality data (Saunders & Townsend, 2016). Participants were selected based on managerial responsibilities that included motivating employees to enhance creative performance. In qualitative studies, participant eligibility criteria should align with the research question to facilitate data

saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Eligibility criteria for the managers in this study included those (a) currently working in a creative industry firm, (b) knowledgeable about motivation strategies for creative industry workers, and (c) with expertise motivating employees to enhance creative performance.

In qualitative research, a researcher must protect human rights. Yin (2018) suggested that before any research can take place, researchers must gain approval from a institutional review board (IRB) and must comply with IRB guidelines. I sought approval for the study from Walden University's IRB. The IRB approval number for this single case qualitative study was 08-04-20-0466644. Upon receipt of IRB approval, I proceeded with the process of identifying and contacting participants for the study. Research participants must give informed consent before engaging in an interview process (Peticca-Harris et al., 2016). Managers of a creative industry firm received an e-mail along with a copy of the informed consent form. The e-mails to managers (a) invited managers to participate in the study, (b) provided a description of the study, (c) advised of the procedures involved, (d) informed participants of their right to accept or to refuse participation, and (e) assured prospective participants of confidentiality.

Before contacting participants, researchers should develop knowledge about the organization (Saunders et al., 2016) and should understand the organization's participants and culture (Annink, 2017). I conducted internet research on creative industry firms before contacting prospective participants. Performing research on the firm prior to engaging participants demonstrated my professional consideration of the organization and its stakeholders, which may have encouraged participants' comfort and trust to

engage in the study. Access to prospective participants was obtained using the creative industry firm's internet website directory and social media profile. Yin (2018) suggested that researchers should provide participants with a synopsis of the research study and purpose. To establish working relationships with participants, I sent an email to introduce the study and to explain the intention and potential benefits of the research.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

In this study I used a qualitative method to explore strategies used by managers of creative industry firms to enhance creative performance. Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed are three methods researchers may choose from to conduct research (Zhu et al., 2018). Researchers use qualitative methods to explore how people interpret the world around them (Holloway & Galvin, 2017) and to garner a deeper understanding of human experiences from the perspectives of participants (Bengtsson, 2016). Taguchi (2018) suggested that qualitative methods afford researchers the ability to comprehend the reasons behind a phenomenon as opposed to having to prove or disprove hypotheses.

Qualitative researchers can investigate the lived experiences of participants to obtain an in-depth and rich understanding of phenomena (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I conducted interviews to ask probing questions to explore occurrences pertaining to creative performance in creative industry firms. Using open-ended questions, interviewers conduct in-depth interviews with participants (Yates & Leggett, 2016) and review documents or case histories to examine what, how, or why occurrences transpired (Park & Park, 2016). Data extracted from interviewee responses, observations, and

researchers' notes can yield sufficient information about participants' experiences and perspectives (Taguchi, 2018).

Quantitative methods would not have been useful for this study. Researchers often use quantitative methods to test hypotheses (Uzonwanne, 2016) and to assess relationships among variables (Saunders & Lewis et al., 2016). Statistical analysis is used in quantitative research to compare and measure the level of occurrences and to extrapolate results to a general population (Bristowe et al., 2015). Researchers conducting quantitative analysis do not ask questions to explore occurrences or extract meaning from participant experiences (Yin, 2018). Using questionnaires or surveys, quantitative researchers collect and analyze numerical data to evaluate differences among variables (Halcomb & Hickman, 2015). Quantitative methods were not used for this study because I did not intend to ask deep and probing questions to explore participant experiences and did not intend to examine differences among variables.

The mixed-method design was another research approach that I did not select for this study. The mixed method design is used to combine elements of quantitative and qualitative approaches in a single study (Yin, 2018). In mixed-method research, examiners use qualitative and quantitative techniques for the broad purpose of developing an in-depth understanding of different occurrences that cannot be wholly understood using one method alone (Schoonenboom & Johnson, 2017). The mixed-method approach is not applicable to all research studies (Dewasiri et al., 2018). Mixed-method researchers expend considerable time and resources collecting both qualitative and quantitative data

for a study (Dempsey, 2018). Considering time, resource, and data collection constraints, the mixed methods approach was not appropriate for this study.

Research Design

For this study, I used a single-case study research design with open-ended interview questions to examine phenomena concerning creative performances in a creative industry firm. Qualitative researchers must choose a research design that is ideal for answering research questions relating to the study (Fusch et al., 2017; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Yin (2018) proposed that one case is sufficient to generate valid data for a qualitative study. The case study design is most advantageous for performing in-depth analysis and exploring phenomena in the real-world context using in-depth data collection from human participants (Ridder, 2017; Wynn & Jones, 2017; Yin, 2018). Researchers use a case study to focus on smaller populations in collecting reliable data (Park & Park, 2016).

Case studies are used to address how or why questions, to explore contemporary phenomena in a real-world context, and when the limits between real-world context and phenomena are not readily apparent (Yates & Leggett, 2016; Yazan, 2015; Yin, 2018). In conducting qualitative research, researchers may also select ethnographical, phenomenological, and narrative designs. Researchers use ethnographical research design for investigating cultural interactions and observing participants in their natural surroundings to gain a deeper understanding of how people interact and react to occurrences in their cultural world (Eisenhart, 2017; Fusch et al., 2017; Ladner, 2017). Researchers may employ a phenomenological design to gather data from participants'

lived experiences and to develop conclusions based on the meanings of participants' experiences with a phenomenon (Cypress, 2017; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Yin, 2018). The narrative design is a way for researchers to discover participants' activities historically and chronologically via the participants sharing stories about their experiences over time (Bruce et al., 2016; Seal & Mattimoe, 2016). The aim of this study was to explore effective strategies used to motivate employee creative performance in a real-world context, rendering case study design a better alternative than the ethnographical, phenomenological, and narrative designs.

Reaching data saturation is one of the challenges with performing qualitative case study research. Data saturation involves ensuring an adequate number of participants are interviewed to acquire sufficient data to replicate a study (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Morse, 2015) and is the point where no new information emerges from participant interview responses (Tran et al., 2016). Obtaining data saturation in qualitative research guarantees the validity in a qualitative study (Roy et al., 2015). Attaining information from appropriate sources is essential for reaching data saturation (Gibson, 2017). I conducted interviews with managers of creative industry firms to attain the information needed to reach data saturation. To ensure credibility, I also used member checking (Hays et al., 2016; Heale & Twycross, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016).

Population and Sampling

The target sample population for this study consisted of four managers of a creative industry firm located in the New York, tristate area. Boddy (2016) suggested that a population sample with one participant is justifiable. This single case study required

data from diverse participants who possess substantial experience with the research topic. Researchers suggest single case studies may generate abundant insight and might provide a novel understanding of unexplored phenomena (Boddy, 2016). A population sample of four participants was used to gather insight and information needed to examine strategies managers of creative industry firms may use to enhance creative performance.

The population for this single case study consisted of managers in a creative industry firm. The population in qualitative studies includes all persons or items a researcher seeks to understand (Rahi, 2017). Yin (2018) suggested that it is vital for researchers to select an appropriate sample population for their qualitative studies. The sample size in qualitative research studies is typically small to support an in-depth analysis of a case or phenomenon (Moser & Korstjens, 2017). Guo et al. (2015) suggested that rather than emphasizing sample size, researchers should focus on the quality of the sample. I chose four managers for the research study. Participants classified for this study were creative directors, officers, managers, or supervisors who have led and managed employee creative performance.

I used a purposive sampling approach to choose four participants for this study. There are different types of sampling methods available in qualitative research. Sampling methods fall under two categories including, probability sampling, which involves chance events where there is an equal likelihood for participant selection, nonprobability sampling, which comprises researcher choice, and the prospect of the researcher's choice is ambiguous to participants (Rahi, 2017; Setia, 2016). Probability sampling involves randomly selecting research participants from a target population and includes simple,

systematic, stratified, and cluster random sampling techniques (El-Masri, 2017). Examples of nonprobability sampling techniques include quota sampling, snowball sampling, convenience sampling, and purposive sampling, all of which comprise selecting participants from a specific population (Taherdoost, 2016).

The use of a purposive sampling technique was ideal for selecting managers of creative performance in creative industry firms. Purposive sampling design relies on the researcher's judgment regarding participants who will provide the best information for the study (Etikan & Bala, 2017). Vasileiou et al. (2018) purported that in purposive sampling, researchers select study participants on their capacity to deliver richly textured information about the research topic. In using a purposive sampling approach, I identified and chose four participants with extensive knowledge and experience to provide information-rich data on managing creative performance in creative industry firms.

Sampling in qualitative research should only occur up to the point of data saturation. Researchers achieve data saturation when no new investigative data arises and the maximum amount of information regarding the phenomenon in the study is attained (Moser & Korstjens, 2017). Fusch and Ness (2015) purported that data saturation transpires when ample data are provided for the researcher to replicate the study, when the ability to acquire additional new information is no longer likely, and when coding is no longer possible. Hennink et al. (2016) reported that data saturation ensures the gathering of sufficient and quality data to support a research study. One of the aims of purposive sampling is to reach data saturation.

To ensure data saturation, I conducted semistructured interviews with purposively sampled participants to obtain information regarding the study. Benoot et al. (2016) indicated that using purposive sampling assuages otherwise complicated sampling processes and draws parallels between research participants and the general purpose of a study. Participant interviews were conducted in this study via video conferencing. Given participant consent, I recorded interview sessions with the four study participants and provided ample time for each participant to answer questions thoroughly. As an additional strategy to facilitate data saturation, more data was gathered from the participants whenever new information arose during the interviews. Questions were asked until no new themes emerged and data saturation with four participants was reached.

Ethical Research

There are ethical considerations for researchers conducting qualitative studies. Those performing qualitative research must comply with ethical principles, prevent biases, ensure data accuracy, maintain participant anonymity and confidentiality, and obtain participant informed consent (Mooney-Somers & Olsen, 2017; Yin, 2018; Yip et al., 2016). To facilitate meeting ethical standards, I obtained approval from Walden University's IRB and senior officers of the creative industry firm before collecting any research data. The Belmont Report provides an ethical protocol for researchers to follow to ensure the protection of human participant's rights (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). Before research is approved, the IRB requires researchers to

attain a certificate of ethical research compliance. Completion of the National Institute of Health (2019) web-based training course transpired (see Appendix B).

To further comply with ethical standards, upon approval of the IRB, interviewees received an informed consent form. Informed consent is a process in which participants understand the research and the risks associated with it (Manti & Licari, 2018). Biros (2018) indicated that researchers must acquire informed consent from human participants before conducting interviews for a study. I used an informed consent form to advise interviewees in advance as to how I would collect data and apply information from the data collection. Partridge and Allman (2016) indicated that researchers use informed consent forms to disclose the nature of a study in so that participants can make informed decisions concerning potential benefits or risks and can decide whether to contribute. Manti and Licari (2018) reported that with the informed consent form, study participants are made aware of their right to voluntarily withdraw from the research process at any time without repercussion. In providing the informed consent form, I advised interviewees of the aim of the study, related risks and benefits, and the withdrawal process.

In keeping with ethical principles, study participants received notice that incentives, remuneration, or reimbursement for partaking in the study would not occur. Using the informed consent form, I also advised participants of measures to maintain their privacy rights. Leyva-Moral and Feijoo-Cid (2017) opined that researchers should indicate in the informed consent form that interviewee confidentiality and anonymity will be protected. To ensure anonymity, the interviewee's name and organization did not

appear on the consent form. Protecting interviewee privacy also included coding information and labeling interviewees as P1-P4 as not to reveal the identities of the participants. Emanuel et al. (2016) suggested maintaining ethical principles through the accurate collection, recording, and storage of participant data. Data collected from interviewees will remain on a password-protected flash drive and in a file drawer, within a locked cabinet to which the researcher of this study has sole access. Information obtained regarding the research study will be retained for 5 years and discarded after.

Data Collection Instruments

The researcher of this single case study was the data collection instrument. In qualitative research, the researcher serves as the primary mechanism for collecting participant data (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Sutton & Austin, 2015; Yin, 2018). To carry out the study, I gathered information from participants using unbiased semistructured interview questions (see Appendix C). As Ridder (2017) suggested, I asked open-ended questions and analyzed interviewee responses. Semistructured interviews are common in qualitative research, are participant-driven, offer differing interviewee inputs and perspectives, and encourage follow-up questions (Kopp et al., 2017; Pucher et al., 2015). To collect data for this study, I conducted semistructured interviews with four managers of a creative industry firm.

Beginning with the central research question, I asked participants a list of questions that were developed by me to investigate strategies managers use to enhance creative performance in creative industry firms. The plan was to allow a total of 60 minutes to record, and with participant permission, to transcribe each participant's

responses to interview questions. Subsequently, member checking transpired by providing a transcript for each participant to review and to make comments. Thomas (2017) indicated that member checks are used by interviewers to allow interviewees to provide researchers with feedback and approval. Member checking also augments interview accuracy, consistency, and study credibility (Santos et al., 2017). Through member checking, interviewees review their responses to questions and offer feedback about accurateness so that the transcripts would correctly reflect participant's experiences and perspectives (Birt et al., 2016). I used member checking to enhance the reliability and validity of the collected interview data.

Data Collection Technique

I utilized the semistructured interview technique as the primary means of collecting data regarding the strategies four managers use to enhance creative performance. My secondary approach for gathering research data involved examining existing documentation from the creative industry firm under study. Raeburn et al. (2016) purported that an assortment of data collection techniques allows researchers the flexibility to facilitate the appropriate fit for a case study. Primarily, I gathered information using open-ended questions needed to perform in-depth interviews with consenting participants and digitally record interviewee responses.

There are advantages and disadvantages to using interviews for qualitative studies. According to Abildgaard et al. (2016), the advantage of using interviews for qualitative studies is researchers can analyze questions through the perspectives and experiences of participants who have experience with or an understanding study topic.

Rumsey et al. (2016) employed telephone and face-to-face interview techniques and data collection and drew out participants' perceptions, views, and feelings about the research topic. A disadvantage of using telephone interviews is that the call can be interrupted due to technical problems, and nonverbal cues can be missed (Oltmann, 2016). A disadvantage of using face-to-face semistructured interviews is the propensity for researcher bias (Yin, 2018). Oltmann (2016) also indicated that during face-to-face interviews, participants might feel awkward and reluctant to answer questions.

For this study, I employed an interview protocol (see Appendix A). Interview protocols are used by researchers to attain and examine participant responses (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Before conducting any interviews, I gave participants the consent form and advised them on the need to record the interview session. I asked the same initial questions of each interviewee and transcribed recorded responses. Santos et al. (2017) advised that in qualitative studies, member checking validates the consistency and accurateness of interviews. The member checking strategy involved sharing the transcribed data with interviewees so that they might review and make comments on the information.

Data Organization Technique

I used a database and a coding system to catalog information collected during my study. In qualitative studies, researchers use multiple sources to gather data, subsequently amassing information that researchers must properly organize for future retrieval and utilization (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Yin, 2018). Reflective journals are methods qualitative researchers can use for keeping track of data. Researchers can utilize

reflective journals to assemble information, and to ensure knowledge transfer, effectual evaluation of pertinent themes, data reliability, and enhanced validity in research analysis (Lazarus et al., 2017; Mahlanze & Sibiya, 2017; Vicary et al., 2017). Case study databases are also recommended for cataloging and organizing research data (Tumele, 2015; Yin, 2018). To organize data, researchers can also develop categories and coding systems (Mayer, 2015; Snelson, 2016).

An NVivo, MAXQDA, or ATLAS.ti software program could be used to organize and compare information obtained from interviewees (Oliveira et al., 2016; Wyte-Lake et al., 2018). NVivo QSR software was used to organize, analyze, and code interview data. A digital file was created for each participant, and I coded individual participant data, labeling them P1-P4, respectively. Hamlin et al. (2016) advised that researchers should facilitate maintaining data integrity using stored files, password protection, or encryption. For this study, participant data will remain on an inaccessible password-protected flash drive for 5 years. After 5 years, the plan is to delete the digital data and demolish the flash drive.

Data Analysis

Data analysis is an important part of the research design process. Bengtsson (2016) indicated that the data analysis process involves identification and assessment of themes that allow researchers to interpret results and pursue answers to research questions. In this single case study, I used Yin's five-phase process to compile, disassemble, reassemble, interpret, and conclude the analysis of interviewee data (Yin, 2018). Fletcher (2017) advised that coding is a fundamental aspect of the data analysis

process as coding offers the context from which the researcher generates main research study themes. In performing data analysis, researchers can use software programs to transcribe and code data and to examine themes (Shaw & Satalkar, 2018) deductively. In addition to Yin's five-phase process, I used NVivo QSR qualitative data analysis software to code transcripts and inspected themes relating to strategies managers use to enhance creative performance.

For this study, I employed methodological triangulation for ancillary data analysis. Ghadge et al. (2017) reported that multiple sources are used by the researcher to ensure the validity of qualitative research. With methodological triangulation, researchers use more than one method or more than one source of data to study a phenomenon, thereby increasing the accurateness, credibility, and validity of the analyses (Da Silva et al., 2016; Krichanchai & Maccarthy, 2017; Yin, 2018). To facilitate the use of methodological triangulation, I utilized data gathered from semistructured interviews with creative industry managers, my reflective journal, and data from document reviews.

Reliability and Validity

In qualitative studies, researchers must establish dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability criteria to ensure the reliability and validity of research data. Reliability and validity are concepts linked to the accurateness and trustworthiness of research (Stanton, 2016). A critical assessment of both reliability and validity is an essential aspect of qualitative research (Saunders et al., 2016). Unlike quantitative research, qualitative assessment techniques for reliability and validity, such as member checking and triangulation, are not directly measurable (Harvey, 2015; Yin, 2018). The

reliability of a qualitative study is allied with ensuring consistency and replication of the data, whereas validity is associated with credibility and transferability of the data (Yin, 2018). I ensured both reliability and validity in this research study.

Reliability

Qualitative researchers must address dependability and replicability to ensure the reliability of the study. Reliability in qualitative research refers to repeated producing of consistent results (Cypress, 2017). Merriam and Grenier (2019) suggested that reliability is the extent of the replications of research findings. Dependability is apparent when each of the research components is consistent and when researchers obtain the same results under identical circumstances (Cuervo-Cazurra et al., 2016; Yin, 2018). Member-checks and triangulation are methods of achieving reliability in a qualitative study (Bizri, 2017; Liao & Hitchcock, 2018; Ramji & Etowa, 2018). Member checking involves providing study participants with interview transcripts to afford interviewees opportunities to provide feedback (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Triangulating includes the use of more than one means of collecting data on the same research topic (Yin, 2018). I utilized semistructured interviews with experienced managers of a creative industry firm to ensure reliability in this study. With participant permission, I digitally recorded and carefully journaled participant responses to interview questions. Upon completion of the interviews, each interviewee was provided with a transcript to examine and confirm data accuracy.

Validity

Establishing creditability, transferability, and confirmability of research data are required to ensure validity in qualitative studies. Park and Park (2016) indicated that qualitative research studies must have valid as well as reliable results. Ensuring validity refers to confirming the appropriateness, accuracy, and trustworthiness of the research tool and accurate data analysis (Leung, 2015; Saunders & Lewis et al., 2016). In qualitative studies, credibility is the extent to which research data truly reflects the participants' expressed viewpoints (Moon et al., 2016). Pandey and Chawla (2016) suggested that credibility is assured when researchers comprehensively capture interviewee responses and verify the findings of study participants. Qualitative researchers use member-checks and triangulation to establish credibility (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). In collecting and analyzing data from semistructured interviews, providing each participant with interview transcripts, and triangulating interview data, I addressed creditability in this study.

I also established transferability to ensure validity in this study. Transferability regards the extent to which the results of a study are conveyable to similar settings and apply to future research (Freitas et al., 2017; Moon et al., 2016). Ensuring transferability requires researchers to present a detailed description of the study and to demonstrate to how the research findings could apply in other contexts (Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Moon et al., 2016). In realizing transferability, research results must have meaning to participants and nonparticipants of the study. In presenting the study, researchers should provide adequate detail about the research so readers can decide whether to use research

study findings in different situations (Abdalla et al., 2018). Yin (2018) suggested that interview protocols, careful adherence to document collection and analysis processes, and reaching data saturation are ways researchers may enhance opportunities for future researchers to transfer study findings. To improve the prospects of transferability, I used an interview protocol (see Appendix A), provided detailed records of data collection and analysis techniques, triangulated data, and confirmed data saturation.

To ensure validity, I further addressed confirmability in this single case study. Confirmability refers to the degree to which research findings convey study participant's actual viewpoints and experiences rather than the researcher's perspective (Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Taylor et al., 2015). To enhance confirmability, researchers can provide participants with interview transcripts to facilitate member checking (Salminen-Tuomaala et al., 2015). Through member checking, interviewees may examine interview transcriptions to confirm the meaning of their expressed ideas and experiences (Percy et al., 2015). Avoiding biases in the research data will also improve the confirmability of the study (Lyons et al., 2018). Cypress (2017) suggested that in maintaining a reflective journal of notes during the study process, researchers can realize confirmability. To ensure confirmability, I employed member checking and maintained a journal of research activities to confirm the validity of this study.

In qualitative research, data saturation adds to the trustworthiness of a study and is essential to ensuring validity. Researchers achieve data saturation after a sufficient number of study participants are interviewed and when interviewees do not reveal additional information about the research topic (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Tran et al., 2016).

Gibson (2017) indicated that obtaining information from appropriate participant sources is vital to reaching data saturation. According to Bernard et al. (2016), failing to achieve data saturation may result in the inaccurate assessment and reporting of participant's experiences. To ensure data saturation, information was collected information from four creative industry firm managers, and member checking was used. I had an interview with each participant, transcribed their responses, gave the transcriptions to each participant to validate their responses, and proceeded with the process until no new information emerged.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 included a justification for a single qualitative case study to explore strategies used by managers of creative industry firms to enhance creative performance. Also included was the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, study participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, and data collection instruments and techniques section. Section 2 of this study concluded with data organization technique, data analysis, reliability, and validity. In Section 3, I will present research findings and discuss their application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and further research, and a conclusion.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore the effective strategies used by some managers of a creative industry firm to motivate employees to enhance creative performance. Data were collected through interviews with purposively sampled managers classified as creative directors, officers, or supervisors in a creative industry firm. Additional data were acquired from documents found on the creative industry firm's website and related media platforms. An analysis of participant responses to interview questions and documents yielded 4 major themes: (a) leader behavior strategies, (b) communication strategies, (c) providing tools and support, and (d) autonomy. The study findings support existing findings described in the literature review. In Section 3, I discuss the study findings, the application of the findings to professional practice, and the implications of those findings to social change. Section 3 also includes recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, reflections, and a conclusion.

Presentation of the Findings

For this study, I performed semistructured interviews with four creative industry managers located in the New York tristate area. The overarching research question was: What effective strategies do some managers of creative industry firms use to motivate employees to enhance creative performance? Each participant used over 20 years of knowledge and experience managing creative performers in answering the overarching research question. Existing and relevant company documents were also reviewed, which

included promotional material designed by creative industry performers. Following the interviews and document reviews, I had a better understanding of the strategies used by creative industry managers to motivate enhanced creative performance.

The semistructured interviews were conducted and recorded using a video conferencing digital platform to protect participants and me from the COVID-19 virus. To conduct semistructured interviews in mutually beneficial ways, researchers may use a range of formats such as telephone or face-to-face interviews, a variety of technologies like Skype or Zoom, or other online computer-assisted interviewing techniques and mediums (Brown & Danaher, 2017). Data collected from the digital recordings were later organized, analyzed, and coded using NVivo QSR software. Before conducting any interviews, I sent consent forms to each participant via email. Given consent, an interview protocol (see Appendix A) was used to ask participants eight identical openended questions. Participants provided responses to questions concerning strategies creative industry managers use to motivate employees to enhance creative performance. Each digitally recorded interview lasted no more than 45 minutes.

Electronic transcription software was used to transcribe recordings of participant responses to the interview questions. Researchers transcribe interview data from audio recordings to analyze the exact replies participants gave to questions during the interviews (De Jonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). Member checking involves providing participants with interview transcripts to give participants opportunities to provide feedback, which augments interview accuracy, consistency, and study credibility (Korstjens & Moser, 2018; Santos et al., 2017). I performed member checking by asking

individual participants to review their transcribed responses to the interview questions. Using methodological triangulation, researchers use multiple sources to study a phenomenon and increase the accurateness, credibility, and validity of the analyses (Da Silva et al., 2016; Ghadge et al., 2017; Krichanchai & Maccarthy, 2017; Yin, 2018). Methodological triangulation occurred during the data analysis process through contrasting themes from the semistructured interviews conducted with four creative industry managers, a reflective journal, and document reviews.

To protect interviewee privacy and not reveal the identities of the participants, individual participant data were labeled and coded as P1, P2, P3, and P4. Four major themes emerged from the coding process and data analysis. The four themes aligned with the literature and conceptual framework, which was Bandura's social cognitive theory. Central precepts of social cognitive theory are that employee self-efficacy is a motivating factor in goal achievement, and there are several ways managers can affect employee self-efficacy beliefs to be motivated to persist in performing assigned tasks overtime (Bandura, 1977; Chao et al., 2017; Harinie et al., 2017; Kirsten, 2018; Weston, 2018). The effective strategies used by managers to motivate employees to enhance creative performance in a creative industry firm, as demonstrated in Table 1, include (a) leader behavior strategies, (b) communication strategies, (c) providing tools and support, and (d) autonomy.

<u>Table 1</u>
Strategies Used to Motivate Enhanced Creative Performance

Main themes (strategies)	# of Sources	Frequency	
Leader behavior	4	50	
Communication	4	24	
Tools and support	4	18	
Autonomy	4	13	

Theme 1: Leader Behavior

Leader behavior was the first theme to emerge with the highest frequency from the data collection and analysis, as shown in Table 1. Leader behaviors are traits or attributes that make an individual effective at motivating and directing employees toward goal accomplishment (Fries et al., 2020). Leadership behavior has a significant impact on employee performance (Inceoglu et al., 2018), and certain leader behaviors enhance employee engagement (Obuobisa-Darko & Domfeh, 2019). All four participants referenced leader behaviors they exhibited or used as effective motivators for enhanced creative performance. P1, P2, P3, and P4 shared that adaptability, the ability to adjust when unexpected circumstances arise, is necessary for motivating creative performance enhancement. Reflecting on a time when adaptive behaviors were used to assist a creative performer who was not meeting expectations, P1 stated,

I had a gentleman who graduated from an historically Black college or university to help produce a music show because I needed more time to do other things. He was good with the camera and graphics but producing was another element that he was not ready for. He did not operate well with managing himself and other people, and he was not operating well in that space. So, I went back to start

producing that music show again and had him operate where his strengths were. So, I did what I like to call a 'Patrick Ewing' pivot and moved him to where he operates efficiently and effectively.

Leadership behaviors affect employee creativity. Yang et al. (2019) found that leader behavior enhances employee creativity by increasing employees' thriving at work. P1, P3, and P4 expressed leader behaviors and traits that are effective means of motivating employees to enhance creative performance: integrity, ability to admit and learn from mistakes, sensitivity to creative employee needs, fearlessness, and modeling. Concerning integrity and admitting to and learning from mistakes, P1 maintained, "A lot of my success has been based around my personal failures, and I've learned how to just look at my failures, write them down and decide I will never go back there again." Regarding having sensitivity to creative employee needs, P3 affirmed, "You have to be able to understand from the standpoint of a creative person... Creative folk function on energy. We can be mercurial and could be here one moment and there the next moment." Pertaining to fearlessness and confidence, P4 stressed, "Don't let fear stop you. As a manager or leader, you have to be able to have more faith to overcome fear."

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

Theme 1, leader behavior, paralleled social cognitive theory. A precept of Bandura's (1977) social cognitive theory is that managers can improve employee self-efficacy motivation to perform tasks through vicarious modeling experiences, which employees gain by observing others perform those tasks. Responses from P1, P2, P3, and P4 revealed they all modeled creative performance experiences each wanted to see

translated by their creative teams. Employees learn from a leader's creative work, which enables their own creative work involvement (Zhao & Guo, 2019). In referring to a creative performer, P3 stated,

There were some competencies he did not have. So, I showed him exactly what I wanted. There is a rhythm in drumming that is very syncopated, and at first, it is easy to get lost. But, when I showed him what the different elements were and how to execute them in the drumbeat, the next thing I knew is every time he went to sit down behind a drum set, what I taught him was the first beat he would play. Although he initially struggled, after I showed him how to do it, he eventually did it, and then he took it to a whole other level.

Creative industry managers must use modeling effectively to enhance the achievement of creative organizational goals. Employees learn from a leader's creative work, which, in turn, enables their own creative work involvement (Bandura 1995; Zhao & Guo, 2019). The findings on leader behavior strategies correlate with the conceptual framework in that creative industry employees increased motivation to persist in effectively performing creative tasks by closely observing and modeling the creative behavior of their manager.

Correlation to the Literature

The findings detailed in Theme 1, leader behavior, correlate with the existing research on managing creative performance and measuring creativity. Griffith et al. (2018) suggested the type of leadership a manager exhibits in the workplace results in better creative outcomes. P1, P2, and P3 indicated astuteness in identifying and assessing

individual employees' creative strengths and weaknesses facilitates enhanced levels of creative performance. P1 revealed, "I have a back office of amazing people that I can sit and evaluate people on what they are doing." Assessing employees' strengths and weaknesses is important for employee engagement (Bridger, 2019). P1 shared, "I determine, have they met deadlines with their creativity? Where do they operate best? Could I just give them a project? Can they meet deadlines and work under pressure? Because I want to see quality." P2 explained,

I usually try to use a particular person whom I know would be good for the project. Everybody is not good for every project. So, I evaluate the individual on their strengths and weaknesses and if I feel like their strengths can add to what I am trying to do. A lot of it depends on if I feel they are going to enhance the project in some way. I kind of already know that before. For example, if I want a singer for a project or if I had a part that needed someone to sing at a high octave range, I am not going to pick somebody who sings low. I would pick somebody who I feel is able to contribute and hit the octave I need or those notes that I need, and they can enhance the project.

Leader creativity identification impacts individual worker-role creativity and team creative performance (Wen et al., 2017). P3 discussed identifying and assessing individual creative employee strengths and weaknesses for better team creative performance and stated,

I listen to how they improvise. For example, I might listen to a bass player and say, okay, but can he play upright bass as well as electric bass? Or can he play in

a variety of styles? Can he read? Can he play by ear? What are his strengths, his weaknesses, or her strengths, and her weaknesses? Then I also look at the kind of person they are, which is harder to tell right away. But I must make certain determinations because the personality mix is going to be just as important in the creative environment as it is as whatever their skills are

Theme 2: Communication

The theme to emerge with the second highest frequency was communication.

Owusu and Mardani (2020) described communication as the practice of conveying ideas or information from one individual to another. Managers use communication with and amongst employees to identify problems and to ensure performance improvements are made (Marso-Walbeck, 2019). Omilion-Hodges and Ackerman (2017) found that communication exchanges distinctively influence employee creativity. In response to the overarching question concerning effective strategies to motivate enhanced creative performance, participants in this study upheld the importance of the use of communication exchanges. P1 indicated,

I ask my employees, where do you want to be? What do you want to do? After 90 days, or after 120 days, I go back to them and ask, is there anything else you want to learn? Is there anything else you want to do? Because I want to make sure we create an atmosphere that is creative.

Mayfield and Mayfield (2017) opined that managers use communication exchanges to influence worker self-efficacy persistence and motivation. P3 affirmed the use of communication interactions to motivate creative performance and stated,

I had to motivate a very talented group of about six musicians to produce consistent quality every night, you know, doing the same songs for a month and a half. There were personality conflicts that threatened the performances. At different times, I had to pull people aside to find out what was happening. I had to be willing to listen, but also to have the ability to assess what they needed most because sometimes they just needed to vent. At those times, there was no need to take any action, but just to have a listening ear. Now, other times there was a need to take some action.

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

Theme 2, communication aligned with social cognitive theory. Bandura (1977) posited that one of the strategies to influence self-efficacy beliefs includes verbal persuasion. Clark and Newberry (2018) suggested that an individual's self-efficacy motivation to persist in fulfilling tasks is improved through verbal persuasion. Verbal persuasion is the most popular strategy used to influence human behavior as it involves communication in the form of feedback (Bandura, 1986). P2 confirmed the use of feedback interactions to ensure creative performers persisted in executing creative tasks. P2 asserted, "I check to see if they have any feedback or any questions and make sure they get back to me before we go into a studio and perform. This way, we could be better prepared for the performance." Jug et al. (2019) purported that feedback given during or after an employee executes a skill is the most effective performance-enhancing technique. P3 shared,

Being able to communicate what you want the person to give you is important. People want to feel like they are doing what you assigned them correctly, and you have to tell them when they are, and you have to tell them when they aren't. You have to communicate your vision and let them know, this is it, and this is not. I was working on this recording project with really top-notch musicians with a lot of experience. It was hard correcting people I admired and looked up to. But it was my record, and they had their own. So, I had to tell them; I need you to do this differently. I need that note you just played to be played like this. I just asked for what I wanted and was very clear about it. And you know what? I feel like they respected me more for doing that. When they knew that they had given me what I wanted, we both felt better.

Correlation to the Literature

Research findings from the analysis of participant responses confirmed that managers use communication skills for enhanced creative performance. Mayfield and Mayfield (2017) opined that managers could utilize communication skills to positively impact employee self-efficacy to persist in exceeding performance outcomes. Open communication exchanges between managers and employees increase work motivation (Stacho et al., 2019). Consistent with these findings, P1 revealed, "I sit with my team at meetings and say, okay, this is the objective, who wants it! And, they are like, I'll take it!" Effective workplace communication occurs when employees are encouraged to share information and ideas with their managers (Mazzei et al., 2019). P3 encouraged shared communication with creative performers and stated, "I say let's talk. Let's get this out,

and let's see what's there." Kim (2018) suggested manager's effective communication with employees reduces ambiguities about performance expectations. P2 mentioned, "during rehearsal, I make sure everybody is on the same page so that the recording or whatever it is we are working on comes out correct."

Communication technology is useful in measuring the effectiveness of creative performance efforts. Managers may use different instruments to readily measure employee creative output (Bart et al., 2017), assess employee creative problem-solving (Pick & Lavidor, 2019), and evaluate employee creative achievement (Wertz et al., 2020). Communication technology is valuable for executing and assessing innovation and creativity (Seechaliao, 2017). Reviews of relevant and existing company documents and responses to participant interview questions supported the use of communication instruments to assess creative performance. P4 maintained,

For a record release, we create flyers and promo videos for radio and social media. If I placed something in Jazz or for Harlem Week, I might see on my social media timeline that I have 22,000 impressions, meaning for 22,000 people, it actually came across their phone or their computer. Then the question is, how many people clicked on it to get more information? Of the 22,000, I may only have 3,000 people who clicked on it, and then after that, I may have nine hundred people who actually liked it. So, it is broken down in that format: Impressions, how many people actually clicked on it, and then how many people actually liked it.

Theme 3: Tools and Support

Providing tools and support was the third theme to emerge from the data collection and analysis. Wang and Nickerson (2017) suggested that individual creativity support systems are used to effectuate creative work performance. In response to questions about effective strategies used to motivate enhanced creative performance, Participant P2 expressed, "I give them the tools that they need in terms of music. Or, I give them enough time to study up and take a piece of mine and learn it." Lejeune et al. (2018) found that enhancements in job performance are facilitated when managers provide tools to support employee development. P1 mentioned,

I gave a guy a video project and provided the components to the video, and said, put it together. To get into the creative process, I found he loves landscape photography and portrait photography. So, I bought four softboxes, real big photography diffusers, and I set them up in the studio as motivation.

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

Social cognitive theory correlated with Theme 3, providing tools and support. A proposition of the social cognitive theory is that employee self-efficacy is a motivating tool that mobilizes effort to achieve goals and persist over time (Harinie et al., 2017). Bandura (1977) suggested that managers can affect employee self-efficacy through affective arousal. Affective arousal states transpire when persons are impacted emotionally, and they can interpret a sense of well-being in relation to their ability to accomplish tasks (Yang et al., 2017). P4 explained, "To motivate creators, I understand creators are givers. Creators need even more motivation. In order for them to give

something, they have to be filled." Positive affect arousal mediates employee creative self-efficacy which is positively related to innovative and creative performance (Intasao & Hao, 2018). Creative industry managers can impact employee affective arousal states to facilitate creative outcomes needed for success. Thibault Landry et al. (2017) suggested that manager's demonstration of appreciation toward employees motivates performance improvements. P3 described, "I recognize them as a person. I found when people feel like you genuinely care about them, that you hear them and you think about what they say, it makes a difference in how they respond."

Managers in creative industries use different approaches to influence employee affective arousal states for developing novel creations necessary for business sustainability and profitability. Agnoli et al. (2019) found that in controlling the affect an individual experienced during a creative process, the individual persisted in developing extraordinary creative products despite frequent frustrations. P1 stated, "I took my whole team to go see Hamilton, on my birthday, and they were excited. I want people to realize I know what it feels like working in a job where you're not warranted, where you feel that I could do better." Intrinsic and extrinsic rewards positively influence employee creative behavior and creative performance enhancement (Chand et al., 2019). To motivate employees to persist with the creative process, P1 also indicated,

I found out three of my employees love photography. How I found out was I took them to lunch. I am always feeding them. They come early, they do the work, and in between the work, we play together. I call my creative process, "playing." I think what plays a huge part is the creative process with people. I would walk into

the station, I would holler in the building, "who wants to play today" and they would come out, and we would just use what we need to use to figure it out.

Correlation to the Literature Review

Study findings outlined in Theme 3 are in alignment with research on providing training as tools and support to enhance creative performance in the literature review.

Training is a tool that managers use to provide employees with instructions needed to execute their jobs and improve performance. In training employees on specific tasks, managers improve employee self-efficacy motivation to persist in successfully executing those tasks (Bandura, 1995). Chand et al. (2019) found that training has a significant impact on increasing organizational performance. To ensure creative performance enhancements, P2 stated, "I am a creative director, I teach musicians. Usually getting them the material ahead of time, giving them maybe about a week or two to be able to sit with the material and study it." Meinel et al. (2018) observed that creativity training successfully enhances employee's creative performance skills. P3 confirmed the use of training as a tool and support to motivate enhanced creative outcomes. P3 stressed,

One of the things that I have found is when I also teach private lessons, I challenge and encourage people to go beyond what they thought they were capable of. I really believe that when you do that, and you help somebody to achieve something that is more than what even they thought possible, you not only help them to get to another level, you help yourself to get to another level. I've definitely done that in recordings.

Theme 4: Autonomy

The fourth theme to emerge in this study was autonomy, as shown in Table 1. Dehlendorf et al. (2018) characterized autonomy as the fundamental right to make and act on decisions. Autonomy in the workplace is employee freedom to make choices about work procedures without restrictions and independence to use approaches the employee deems necessary to execute job tasks (Chiniara & Bentein, 2016). Pattnaik and Sahoo (2020) found that in establishing an autonomous work environment, managers can channel employee creative improvements and engagement needed to contribute to business success. Participants in this study attested to the use of autonomy to motivate creative performance enhancements needed for competitive advantage. P1 indicated, "Creatives don't like to be pigeon held in a box, you know like that 9:00 to 5:00. So, I give them perfect, just total autonomy to do whatever I need them to do with a deadline." To foster employee creative performance enhancements through autonomy, P3 also shared, "You inevitably have to let people spread their wings and fly."

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

Theme 4, autonomy, support Bandura's (1977) social cognitive theory, which suggests that enactive mastery is a useful means of affecting self-efficacious motivation to persist in task accomplishment. Enactive mastery is the experience individuals gain from having previously accomplished tasks (Bandura, 1986). Employee's perceived sense of control of their own effort level increases employee motivation and effort expenditure to persist in performing (Bandura, 1986). Bandura (1997) suggested that employee effort expenditure is a primary determinate of enactive mastery experience. Enactive mastery

experience is the most prominent source of self-efficacy (Kolo et al., 2017). Self-efficacy is positively associated with autonomy (Duchatelet & Donche, 2019). Wang and Netemeyer (2002) suggested that work autonomy is most pertinent to self-efficacy motivation as the perception of work autonomy signifies the efficacy-enhancing information source identified by Bandura (1977) as enactive mastery.

Findings from this qualitative study revealed that creative industry managers use autonomous enactive experiences to motivate employee self-efficacy to persist in performing creative assignments. Employee self-efficacy motivation is achievable when managers facilitate mastery experiences by allowing employees to apply previously obtained knowledge to achieve existing desired behaviors (Bandura,1997). In managing individual performers on a creative project, P2 stated,

They have to be technically adept in whatever instrument they are playing. Whether it be guitar or bass or something like that. What their experience and levels are in terms of being exposed to different kinds of music is important to me as a Jazz musician because sometimes an R&B musician is not going to give me the type of feel and feedback I need for a project because their specialty is R&B. Whereas somebody who has experience in Jazz, they will be able to give me a little bit more of what I am looking for and what I'm hearing in terms of a project or whatever.

Correlation to the Literature

The research located in the literature review is consistent with Theme 4, autonomy. Autonomy is a core motivator of creative performance (Wang & Dong, 2019).

Creative performance is crucial for the success and longevity of creative industry firms.

Oluwaseun and Boboye (2017) observed that workers who were given greater autonomy have self-efficacy motivation to accomplish more creative activities than workers who were not provided with significant autonomy. In verifying the effective use of autonomy as creative self-efficacy motivation for enhanced creative performance, P1 disclosed,

I gave this guy a video assignment, and he kept emailing me and kept asking, what do you want to see? I was like, no, no, I want to see quality. I want to see message. I'll just let you do what you want to do with it. At that time, he looked at me like what? Then he later came back with a beautiful piece. It was simple; it was beautiful.

In creative industries firms, creative self-efficacy is essential for the innovative and creative performance needed to maintain competitive standing. Abdul Hamid et al. (2020) discovered a significant relationship between autonomy and creative processes in that given full autonomy, employee's creative self-efficacy motivation to innovate and produce quality creative work increases. P1 stated, "to motivate creative process with my employees, one thing that I've noticed when dealing with creatives is, you have to let them be. You have to let them operate in their lane." Employee creative self-efficacy and employee creativity are bolstered when leaders exhibit dialectic managerial approaches, such as giving employees autonomy (Han & Bai, 2020). P3 affirmed, "I found different people get motivated by different things. Some folks like to just be left alone, like they got it, and it's important for them to prove that they could do it themselves."

Creative self-efficacy is the belief in one's own ability to execute tasks inventively. P4 explained, "I tell my songwriters and musicians to believe in yourself. We don't know what's going to happen when we get on stage. Whether it is one person or one million people in the audience, give them your best, believe in yourself." Orth and Volmer (2017) found that employee creative self-efficacy beliefs and autonomy positively affects creative and innovative outcomes. In granting autonomy, creative industry managers influence employee creative self-efficacy to innovate. P1 shared,

I am not running a dictatorship. My creatives know I want to see quality. I want to see the message standout, vibrant colors, and camera movement, and they know they can provide it. When they volunteer, they know they have to come with the best product I ever wanted to see, and they provide it.

Applications to Professional Practice

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore the effective strategies used by some managers of a creative industry firm to motivate employees to enhance creative performance. Creative industry firms rely on employee creative performance enhancements for success and longevity. Substandard employee creative performance adversely affects creative business profitability and competitive standing. Cheng et al. (2019) found that managers can affect employee creative output. Managers in creative industries who understand factors that influence employee motivation to enhance creative performance can achieve business success. Vijayabanu et al. (2017) established that managerial ability to motivate employees is crucial to effectuating enhanced performance and commitment to accomplishing business objectives.

Application to professional practice lies in the potential for the findings in this study to provide managers with strategies to motivate enhanced creative performance needed for business profitability and competitive advantage.

Bandura's (1977) social cognitive theory was the lens utilized in the findings of this study. The social cognitive theory reflection in this study's findings confirmed that when managers applied enactive mastery, vicarious modeling, verbal persuasion, affective arousal, or training strategies, employee creative self-efficacy motivation to enhance creative performance increased. Creative self-efficacy significantly predicts creative performance and is a fundamental motivating factor in innovative and creative processes (Bandura, 1997; Pretz & Nelson, 2017). Creative works are essential for a creative industry firm's longevity and survival, as employee incapacity to generate novel innovations threaten business sustainability (Allahar, 2018). The findings of this study might add to the expansion of managerial approaches for motivating employees.

Managers can use the information obtained from the social cognitive theory framework to devise strategies to affect creative self-efficacious motivation toward creative performance enhancements needed for business success.

Participants in this study each had over 20 years of managerial experience in a creative industry firm. The participants shared knowledge and expertise that could facilitate the adoption of strategies to motivate creative performance enhancements. Creative industry workers are invaluable to their firms as their innovative and creative productions directly affect business performance outcomes (Chang, 2018; Munizu & Hamid, 2018). P1, P2, P3, and P4 respectively reported that the use of (a) leader

behaviors, (b) communication, (c) tools and support, and (d) autonomy strategies to motivate employees to enhance creative performance. Deressa and Zeru (2019) emphasized that demotivated employees adversely affect business operations through low expended effort toward work and lower quality creations. The participant's effective strategies in this study may guide creative industry managers in motivating employees to translate novel creations into competitive and financial gains successfully.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for social change are that the results of this study might increase manager's impact on employee motivation to improve creative performance. Singh and Misra (2020) described positive social change as initiatives businesses undertake that result in improvements in employee wellbeing, individual welfare, and societal conditions. The findings in this study support creative industry manager's use of strategies to influence employees to persist in enhancing creative developments.

Managers in creative industries use various approaches to facilitate employee production of new creations and innovations that provide value (Protogerou et al., 2017). Taura and Nagai (2017) indicated that innovations are valuable for both social and economic development, and employee creativity is necessary for innovations to transpire. Employee creativity improves the quality of life, is central to a city's character, and is an integral part of creative economies (Becker et al., 2019). Using the strategies provided in this study, creative industry managers might ensure employees produce and enhance creative and innovative developments that promote social change.

Creative industry sectors frequently provide for job development, civic renewal, and economic expansion. One creative industry region employs over 2.7 million creative performers, pays \$209.6 billion in labor income, and is responsible for \$650.3 billion in total creative economic activity (Thornberg, 2021). Inputs and outputs of creative performers are assets that define creative industries. Creative performer's efficacious motivation to persist in achieving higher levels of creative performance is affected by management interventions (Cheng et al., 2019; Qi et al., 2019). Supported by managers, creative performers might transform self-efficacious efforts to the advancement of their firms, communities, and society.

Recommendations for Action

Based on the study findings, using strategy to influence employee motivation may provide creative industry firms with a scheme for effectively enhancing creative performance. After analyzing participant responses and company documents, it is recommended that creative industry managers use (a) leader behavior, (b) communication, (c) tools and support, and (d) autonomy strategies to motivate creative performance enhancements. Using the results of this study, I found when creative industry managers exhibited adaptive leader behaviors, they effectively influenced employees to improve creative performances. Integrity, ability to admit and learn from mistakes, sensitivity to creative employee needs, fearlessness, and modeling are also recommended leader behaviors or traits for successfully motivating creative performers.

In keeping with the study findings, creative industry managers should use communication to positively affect employee self-efficacious motivation to persistently

exceed creative expectations. I further recommend creative industry managers facilitate open communication exchanges, verbal persuasion, feedback interactions, and communication technologies as effective creative performance-enhancement techniques. An additional recommendation is for creative industry managers to provide creative performers with the tools and support, such as training tools, needed to generate novel creations and innovations needed for business viability. Managers in creative industries should also offer support in the form of rewards to motivate employee's positive affective arousal states for enhanced creative and innovative outcomes. Another recommendation is for creative industry managers to give workers autonomy and establish an autonomous work environment, which motivates employee self-efficacy to persist in enhancing creative performance needed for business success and longevity.

Given the recommendations for action, the intent is to publish the findings from this study in academic business journals, scholarly literature, and with the ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Database. My intention is to also provide each participant of the case study with a courtesy copy of the study findings. I further intend to present the findings of this study in higher education institutions and at conferences and workshops relating to creative performance in creative industries.

Recommendations for Further Research

This study was conducted to explore effective strategies used by creative industry managers to enhance creative performance. Strategies found in this study are vital for motivating employees to persist in developing novel creations and innovations needed for creative industry business survival and success. While the results of this study offer

valuable insights, a need for additional research on ways to motivate creative performance enhancement and to address study limitations remain. The findings in this study revealed that certain leader behaviors were effective motivators for enhanced creative performance. Additional research could be conducted to identify how or if other leader behaviors, for instance, building trust, may improve employee creative performance. Results of this study also showed that communication was used to motivate creative performance enhancements. For example, supplemental research about the mitigating effects of communication on creative performers could be done to build on this study. Further research on how providing tools and support and autonomy may affect employee creative self-efficacy motivation to persist in completing creative tasks can be executed to expand on the study findings as well.

Qualitative single-case studies have limitations. A limitation of this study is that the findings were based on the insights provided by four creative industry managers. Limiting the study to four participants may not have yielded a depth of knowledge and experiences possessed by creative industry managers with different understandings and capabilities. For additional knowledge on strategies to enhance creative performance, future researchers are recommended to replicate the study and to include more participant perspectives. The study was also limited to a creative industry firm in the New York tristate area. Another recommendation is to replicate the study emphasizing other cases in different geographical regions to gain more in-depth knowledge and understanding of strategies used to motivate employees to enhance creative performance.

Reflections

The pursuit of a doctor of business administration (DBA) degree was not an easy undertaking. Persisting through the doctoral study process was a challenging, however, a necessary progressive step in my academic and professional journey. Throughout the DBA process, I learned aspects of literature review, qualitative research methodology, case study procedures, and data collection techniques needed to investigate my research topic. The knowledge obtained from conducting this study aided my exploration of effective managerial strategies to motivate creative performance enhancements. During the interviews with study participants, I discovered that creative industry managers effectively use leader behavior, communication, tools and support, and autonomy strategies to motivate employees to enhance creative performance.

My role as the primary data collection instrument for this study was to conduct the study without biased perspectives or preconceived notions. I interviewed four creative industry managers who were forthcoming in providing insightful responses to interview questions. Each study participant had over 20 years of experience managing creative performers. Throughout the process, each participant expressed enthusiasm about partaking in this study and sharing their knowledge and expertise in creative industries. Upon completion of this study, I gleaned a greater appreciation for strategies managers of creative industry firms use in motivating creativity enhancements needed for business profitability and success.

Conclusion

The aim of this qualitative single-case study was to explore the effective strategies used by some managers of a creative industry firm to motivate employees to enhance creative performance. Participants for this study were selected using purposeful sampling. Data collection for this study transpired through semistructured interviews with four creative industry managers and via the review of relevant company documents.

Interviews were conducted using video conferencing. Video conferencing was used in keeping with social distancing mandates to prevent spreading of the COVID-19 virus. An analysis of the data collected yielded 4 major themes: (a) leader behavior, (b) communication, (c) tools and support, and (d) autonomy. The findings of this study supported findings depicted in the literature review. The study findings also aligned with Bandura's (1977, 1995) social cognitive theory, which suggested managers could affect employee self-efficacy motivation to persist in performing tasks through (a) enactive mastery, (b) vicarious modeling, (c) verbal persuasion, (d) affective arousal, or (e) training experiences.

All creative industry managers confirmed the use of approaches to influence employee motivation toward creative performance enhancements. Recommended strategies to influence employee creative self-efficacy motivations are: (a) exhibit or use leader behaviors, (b) facilitate communication exchanges, (c) provide tools and support, or (d) establish an autonomous work environment and give employees autonomy over creative projects. Given these strategies, managers may motivate employees to enhance creative performance in creative industry firms.

References

- Abbas, Z. A., & North, J. S. (2018). Good-vs. poor-trial feedback in motor learning: The role of self-efficacy and intrinsic motivation across levels of task difficulty.
 Learning and Instruction, 55, 105-112.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2017.09.009
- Abbasi, M., Vassilopoulou, P., & Stergioulas, L. (2017). Technology roadmap for the creative industries. *Creative Industries Journal*, 10(1), 40-58.https://doi.org/10.1080/17510694.2016.1247627
- Abdalla, M. M., Oliveira, L. G., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administration: Teaching & Research*, 19(1), 66-98. https://doi.org/10.13058%2Fraep.2018.v19n1.578
- Abildgaard, J. S., Saksvik, P. Ø., & Nielsen, K. (2016). How to measure the intervention process? An assessment of qualitative and quantitative approaches to data collection in the process evaluation of organizational interventions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01380
- Abdul Hamid, R., Rahid, M. R., Ab Hamid, S. N., & Ab Hamid, S. N. (2020). The effects of employee participation in creative-relevant process and creative self-efficacy on employee creativity. *Malaysian Journal of Society and Space*, 16(2). https://doi.org/10.17576/geo-2020-1602-14

- Acar, O. A., Tarakci, M., & van Knippenberg, D. (2019). Creativity and innovation under constraints: A cross-disciplinary integrative review. *Journal of Management*, 45(1), 96-121. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206318805832
- Afota, M. C., Ollier-Malaterre, A., & Vandenberghe, C. (2019). How supervisors set the tone for long hours: Vicarious learning, subordinates' self-motives and the contagion of working hours. *Human Resource Management Review*, 29(4), 100673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2018.11.001
- Agnoli, S., Corazza, G. E., & Runco, M. A. (2016). Estimating creativity with a multiple-measurement approach within scientific and artistic domains. *Creativity Research Journal*, 28(2), 171-176. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2016.1162475
- Agnoli, S., Franchin, L., Rubaltelli, E., & Corazza, G. E. (2019). The emotionally intelligent use of attention and affective arousal under creative frustration and creative success. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *142*, 242-248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.04.041
- Agnoli, S., Runco, M. A., Kirsch, C., & Corazza, G. E. (2018). The role of motivation in the prediction of creative achievement inside and outside of school environment.

 Thinking Skills and Creativity, 28, 167-176.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2018.05.005
- Albrecht, J. R., & Karabenick, S. A. (2017). Relevance for learning and motivation in education. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 86(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220973.2017.1380593

- Aleksic-Glisovic, M., Jerotijevic, G., & Jerotijevic, Z. (2019). Modern approaches toemployee motivation. *Ekonomika*, 65(2), 121-133.https://doi.org/10.5937/ekonomika1902121a
- Allahar, H. (2018). A management framework for fostering creativity and sustainability in organizations. *Journal of Creativity and Business Innovation*, *4*(2018), 42-59. http://www.journalcbi.com/management-framework-for-fostering-creativity-and-sustainability-in-organizations.html
- Amabile, T. M. (1988). A model of creativity and innovation in organizations. In B.M.Staw, & L. L. Cummings (Eds.), Research in organizational behavior. JAI Press.
- Amabile, T. (2007). How to kill creativity. In J. Henry (Ed.), *Creative Management and Development*, (pp. 18–24). Sage Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446213704.n2
- Ames, C. (1984). Achievement attributions and self-instructions under competitive and individualistic goal structures. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 76(3), 478-487. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.76.3.478
- Annink, A. (2017). Using the research journal during qualitative data collection in a cross-cultural context. *Entrepreneurship Research Journal*, 7(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1515/erj-2015-0063
- Al-Harthy, I. S. (2016). Contemporary motivation learning theories: A review.

 *International Journal of Learning Management Systems, 4(2), 99-117.

 https://doi.org/10.18576/ijlms/040205

- Aldahdouh, T. Z., Nokelainen, P., & Korhonen, V. (2018). Innovativeness of staff in higher education Do implicit theories and goal orientations matter? International *Journal of Higher Education*, 7(2), 43. https://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe.v7n2p43
- Armstrong, C. S., & Kepler, J. D. (2018). Theory, research design assumptions, and causal inferences. *Journal of Accounting & Economics*, 66(2-3), 366-373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2018.08.012
- Awang, A. H., Mohd Sapie, N., Hussain, M. Y., Ishak, S., & Md Yusof, R. (2019).

 Nurturing innovative employees: effects of organizational learning and work environment. *Economic Research*, 32(1), 1152-1168.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677x.2019.1592007
- Baciu, L. E. (2017). Expectancy theory explaining civil servants' work motivation:

 Evidence from a Romanian City Hall. *USV Annals of Economics & Public Administration*, *17*(2), 146-160.

 https://econpapers.repec.org/article/scmusvaep/v_3a17_3ay_3a2017_3ai_3a2(26)
 _3ap_3a146-160.htm
- Bakker, A. B., Rodriguez-Munoz, A., & Vergel, A. S. (2016). Modeling job crafting behaviours: Implications for work engagement. *Human Relations*, 69(1), 169-189. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726715581690
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavior change.

 *Psychology Review, 84(2), 191-215. https://doi.org/10.1037//0033-295x.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.

 Prentice-Hall.

- Bandura, A. (1989). Human agency in social cognitive theory. *American Psychologist*, 44(9), 1175-1184. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.44.9.1175
- Bandura, A. (1994). Self-efficacy. In V. S. Ramachaudran (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of human behavior*. Academic Press.
- Bandura, A. (1995). Self-efficacy in changing societies. Cambridge University Press.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. W. H. Freeman.
- Bandura, A. (2000). Exercise of human agency through collective efficacy. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 9(3), 75-78. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00064
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52(1), 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.1
- Bandura, A. (2012). On the functional properties of perceived self-efficacy revisited. *Journal of Management*, 38(1), 9-44. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206311410606
- Bandura, A. (2018). Toward a psychology of human agency: Pathways and reflections.

 *Perspectives on Psychological Science, 13(2), 130-136.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691617699280
- Bardach, L., Oczlon, S., Pietschnig, J., & Luftenegger, M. (2020). Has achievement goal theory been right: A meta-analysis of the relation between goal structures and personal achievement goals. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 112(6), 1197-1220. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000419.supp
- Bart, W. M., Hokanson, B., & Can, I. (2017). An investigation of the factor structure of the Torrance Tests of Creative Thinking. *Educational Sciences: Theory* &

- Practice, 17(2), 515-528. https://doi.org/10.12738/estp.2017.2.0051
- Beatson, N. J., Berg, D. A., & Smith, J. K. (2018). The impact of mastery feedback on undergraduate students' self-efficacy beliefs. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 59, 58-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2018.03.002
- Becker, K., Engstrom, R., & Stickel, K. (2019). There is something about Seattle. 2019

 Creative Economy Report. https://www.seattle.gov
- Beghetto, R. A., & Karwowski, M. (2017). Toward untangling creative self-beliefs. *The Creative Self*, 1(2017), 3-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-809790-8.00001-7
- Beiua, A., & Davidescu, A. (2018). An empirical investigation of the Expectancy Theory among Romanian employees. *Journal of Social and Economic Statistics*, 7, 19-31. https://content.sciendo.com/view/journals/jses
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *NursingPlus Open*, 2, 8-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001
- Benoot, C., Hannes, K., & Bilsen, J. (2016). The use of purposeful sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example on sexual adjustment to a cancer trajectory. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0114-6
- Benson, M. S., & Powell, M. B. (2015). Australian prosecutors' perceptions of the utility of child investigative interview protocols. *International Journal of Police Science* & *Management*, 17(4), 216-229. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461355715616958

- Berkovich-Ohana, A., Glicksohn, J., Ben-Soussan, T. D., & Goldstein, A. (2017).

 Creativity is enhanced by long-term mindfulness training and is negatively correlated with trait default-mode-related low-gamma inter-hemispheric connectivity. *Mindfulness*, 8(3), 717-727. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-016-0649-y
- Bernard, H. R., Wutich, A., & Ryan, G. W. (2016). *Analyzing qualitative data:*Systematic approaches. Sage Publications.
- Biros, M. (2018). Capacity, vulnerability, and informed consent for research. *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 46(1), 72-78.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110518766021
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13),1802-1811. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870
- Bizri, R. M. (2017). Refugee-entrepreneurship: A social capital perspective. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 29(9-10), 847-868. https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2017.1364787
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19(4), 426-432. https://doi.org/10.1108/qmr-06-2016-0053
- Boix-Domenech, R., & Rausell-Koster, P. (2018). The economic impact of the creative industry in the European Union. *Drones and the Creative Industry*, 19-36. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-95261-1_2

- Borshalina, T. (2019). Innovation strategy for creative industry of Indonesian Batik

 Trusmi micro, small & medium enterprise (MSME). *Global Business and Management Research: An International Journal, 11,* 327-334.

 http://www.gbmrjournal.com/
- Bristowe, K., Selman, L., & Murtagh, F. E. (2015). Qualitative research methods in renal medicine: An introduction. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, *30*(9), 1424-1431. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfu410
- Brown, A., & Danaher, P. A. (2017). CHE Principles: Facilitating authentic and dialogical semi-structured interviews in educational research. International *Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 42(1), 76-90. https://doi.org/10.1080%2F1743727x.2017.1379987
- Bruce, A., Beuthin, R., Shields, L., Molzahn, A., & Schick-Makaroff, K. (2016).

 Narrative Research Evolving. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 15

 (1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406916659292
- Brunow, S., Birkeneder, A., & Rodriguez-Pose, A. (2018). Creative and science-oriented employees and firm-level innovation. *Cities*, 78, 27-38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2018.02.002
- Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2015). Business research methods. Oxford University Press.
- Bureau of Economic Analysis (2019). Arts and cultural production satellite account, U.S. and states 2016. www.bea.gov

- Cai, W., Lysova, E. I., Khapova, S. N., & Bossink, B. A. G. (2019). Does entrepreneurial leadership foster creativity among employees and teams? The mediating role of creative efficacy beliefs. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *34*(2), 203-217. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-018-9536-y
- Capa-Aydin, Y., Uzuntiryaki-Kondakci, E., & Ceylandag, R. (2018). The relationship between vicarious experience, social persuasion, physiological state, and chemistry self-efficacy: The role of mastery experience as a mediator. *Psychology in the Schools*, 55(10), 1224-1238. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22201
- Cappellaro, G. (2017). Ethnography in public management research: A systematic reviewand future directions. *International Public Management Journal*, 20(1), 14-48. https://doi.org/10.1080/10967494.2016.1143423
- Carter, W. R., Nesbit, P. L., Badham, R. J., Parker, S. K., & Sung, L. K. (2018). The effects of employee engagement and self-efficacy on job performance: a longitudinal field study. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(17), 2483-2502. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1244096
- Casper, S., & Storz, C. (2017). Bounded careers in creative industries: Surprising patterns in video games. *Industry and Innovation*, 24(3), 213-248. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2016.1224705
- Cetin, F., & Askun, D. (2018). The effect of occupational self-efficacy on work performance through intrinsic work motivation. *Management Research Review*, 41(2), 186-201. https://doi.org/10.1108/mrr-03-2017-0062

- Chand, A., Ashraf, N., Khalid, L., & Munawar, H. (2019). The impact of intrinsic and extrinsic rewards on teacher's creativity. (2019). *Journal of Resources*Development and Management, 5, 24-34. https://doi.org/10.7176/jrdm/56-03
- Chang, J.-H., & Teng, C.-C. (2017). Intrinsic or extrinsic motivations for hospitality employees' creativity: The moderating role of organization-level regulatory focus. International *Journal of Hospitality Management*, 60, 133-141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.10.003
- Chang, S. (2018). Essays on organization, creativity, and globalization. (Doctoral Dissertation)

 https://academiccommons.columbia.edu/doi/10.7916/D8WH46F3http://search.proquest.com.ezp
- Chao, C. N. G., Chow, W. S. E., Forlin, C., & Ho, F. C. (2017). Improving teachers' self-efficacy in applying teaching and learning strategies and classroom management to students with special education needs in Hong Kong. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 66, 360-369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.05.004
- Chen, Y. (2017). The relationship between undergraduate students' creative ability, career self-management and employ ability. *Advances in Social Sciences*, 06(07), 964-969. https://doi.org/10.12677/ass.2017.67138
- Cheng, C., Cao, L., Zhong, H., He, Y., & Qian, J. (2019). The influence of leader encouragement of creativity on innovation speed: Findings from SEM and fsQCA. *Sustainability*, 11(9), 2693. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11092693
- Chiniara, M., & Bentein, K. (2016). Linking servant leadership to individual

- performance: Differentiating the mediating role of autonomy, competence, and relatedness need satisfaction. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 27(1), 124-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.08.004
- Chopra, K. (2019). Indian shopper motivation to use artificial intelligence. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 47(3), 331-347. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijrdm-11-2018-0251
- Chow, I. H. S. (2018). The mechanism underlying the empowering leadership-creativity relationship. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 39(2), 202-217. https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-03-2016-0060
- Christensen-Salem, A., Walumbwa, F. O., Hsu, C. I.-C., Misati, E., Babalola, M. T., & Kim, K. (2020). Unmasking the creative self-efficacy–creative performance relationship: the roles of thriving at work, perceived work significance, and task interdependence. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2019.1710721
- Clark, K. R., & Veale, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482-485. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- Clark, S., & Newberry, M. (2018). Are we building preservice Teacher self-efficacy? A large-scale study examining Teacher education experiences. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 47(1), 32-47. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359866x.2018.1497772
- Cook, D. A., & Artino, A. R. (2016). Motivation to learn: An overview of contemporary

- theories. *Medical Education*, *50*(10), 997-1014. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13074
- Cook, P. J. (2016). Leading innovation, creativity and enterprise. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 48(6), 294-299. https://doi.org/10.1108/ict-01-2016-0006
- Cortes, R. A., Weinberger, A. B., Daker, R. J., & Green, A. E. (2019). Re-examining prominent measures of divergent and convergent creativity. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 27, 90-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2018.09.017
- Cuervo-Cazurra, A., Andersson, U., Brannen, M., Nielsen, B., & Reuber, A. R. (2016).
 From the editors: Can I trust your findings? Ruling out alternative explanations in international business research. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 47(8), 881-897. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41267-016-0005-4
- Daniel, R. (2016). Creative artists, career patterns and career theory: insights from the Australian context. *Australian Journal of Career Development*, 25(3), 91-98. https://doi.org/10.1177/1038416216670663
- Dasgupta, M. (2015). Exploring the relevance of case study research. *Vision*, *19*(2), 147-160. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262915575661
- Da Silva, T. M., De Resende Melo, P. L., Esteves, K., & Gomes, G. (2016). Franchisee association and its mediation of relationship. *RAM. Mackenzie Management Magazine*, 17(5), 138-165. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-

- 69712016/administracao.v17n5p138-165
- Deci, E. L., Olafsen, A. H., & Ryan, R. M. (2017). Self-determination theory in work organizations: The state of a science. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, *4*(1), 19-43. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032516-113108
- Deci, R., & Ryan, R. (1985). *Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior*. New York, NY: Plenum.
- Dehlendorf, C., Reed, R., Fox, E., Seidman, D., Hall, C., & Steinauer, J. (2018). Ensuring

 Our research reflects our values: The role of family planning research in

 advancing reproductive autonomy. *Contraception*, 98(1), 4-7.

 https://doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.contraception.2018.03.015
- De Jonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primarycare research: A balance of relationship and rigor. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), e000057. https://doi.org/10.1136%2Ffmch-2018-000057
- De Manzano, O., & Ullen, F. (2018). Genetic and environmental influences on the phenotypic associations between intelligence, personality, and creative achievement in the arts and sciences. *Intelligence*, 69, 123-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2018.05.004
- Demircioglu, M. A., & Audretsch, D. B. (2017). Conditions for innovation in public sector organizations. *Research Policy*, *46*(9), 1681-1691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2017.08.004

- Dempsey, T. L. (2018). Handling the qualitative side of mixed methods research: A multisite, team-based high school education evaluation study. *Research Triangle Park, NC: RTI Press. RTI Press Publication No. MR-0039-1809*. https://doi.org/10.3768/rtipress.2018.mr.0039.1809
- Deressa, A. T., & Zeru, G. (2019). Work motivation and its effects on organizational performance: the case of nurses in Hawassa public and private hospitals: Mixed method study approach. *BMC Research Notes*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-019-4255-7
- Devotta, K., Woodhall-Melnik, J., Pedersen, C., Wendaferew, A., Dowbor, T. P.,

 Guilcher, S. J., Hamilton-Wright, S., Ferentzy, P., Hwang, S. W., & Matheson, F.

 I. (2016). Enriching qualitative research by engaging peer interviewers: a case study. *Qualitative Research*, 16(6), 661-680.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794115626244
- Dewasiri, N. J., Weerakoon, Y. K. B., & Azeez, A. A. (2018). Mixed methods in finance research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918801730
- Di Domenico, S. I., & Ryan, R. M. (2017). The emerging neuroscience of intrinsic motivation: A New frontier in self-determination research. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2017.00145
- Distanont, A., & Khongmalai, O. (2018). The role of innovation in creating a competitive advantage. *Kasetsart Journal of Social Sciences*, 41(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kjss.2018.07.009

- Duchatelet, D., & Donche, V. (2019). Fostering self-efficacy and self-regulation in higher education: a matter of autonomy support or academic motivation? *Higher Education Research & Development*, 38(4), 733-747. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2019.1581143
- Dweck, C. S. (1986). Motivational processes affecting learning. *American Psychologist*, 41(10), 1040-1048. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.41.10.1040
- Dziallas, M., & Blind, K. (2019). Innovation indicators throughout the innovation process: An extensive literature analysis. *Technovation*, 80(81), 3-29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2018.05.005
- Eisenhart, M. (2017). A matter of scale: multi-scale ethnographic research on education in the United States. *Ethnography and Education*, *12*(2), 134-147. https://doi.org/10.1080/17457823.2016.1257947
- El-Masri, M. M. (2017). Probability sampling. *The Canadian Nurse*, 113(1), 26. http://www.cna-aiic.ca
- Emanuel, E., Abdoler, E., & Stunkel, L. (2016). Research ethics: How to treat people who participate in research. *Methodological Issues and Strategies in Clinical Research*, *4*, 513-523. https://doi.org/10.1037/14805-031
- Eskreis-Winkler, L., Shulman, E. P., Young, V., Tsukayama, E., Brunwasser, S. M., & Duckworth, A. L. (2016). Using wise interventions to motivate deliberate practice. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 111(5), 728-744. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000074

- Etikan, I., & Bala, K. (2017). Sampling and Sampling Methods. *Biometrics* & *Biostatistics International Journal*, *5*(6), 215-217. https://doi.org/10.15406/bbij.2017.05.00149
- Fischer, C., Malycha, C. P., & Schafmann, E. (2019). The influence of intrinsic motivation and synergistic extrinsic motivators on creativity and innovation. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00137
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). *Belief, attitude, intention, and behavior: An introduction to theory and research.* Addison-Wesley.
- Fishman, E. J., & Husman, J. (2017). Extending attribution theory: Considering students' perceived control of the attribution process. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 109(4), 559-473. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000158
- Fleischmann, K., Daniel, R., & Welters, R. (2017). Developing a regional economy through creative industries: Innovation capacity in a regional Australian city.

 Creative Industries Journal, 10(2), 119-138.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/17510694.2017.1282305
- Fletcher, A. J. (2017). Applying critical realism in qualitative research: Methodology meets method. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(2), 181-194. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1144401
- Flew, T. (2017). Cultural and creative industries. *Oxford Bibliographies*. https://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780199756841-0188
- Francis, J. (2015). A case for channeling creative industries into a viable industry subsector within a diversified economy in Trinidad and Tobago. *Creative Industries*

- Journal, 8(1), 24-38. https://doi.org/10.1080/17510694.2015.1048066
- Freitas, F., Riberiro, J., Brandao, C., Reis, L. P., de Souza, F. N., & Costa, A. P. (2017).

 Learn by yourself: The self-learning tools for qualitative analysis software

 packages. *Digital Education Review*, 32(1), 97-117. https://eric.ed.gov/
- Fries, A., Kammerlander, N., & Leitterstorf, M. (2020). Leadership styles and leadership behaviors in family firms: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 100374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2020.100374
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(3), 923-941. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol22/iss3/16
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss9/3
- Games, D., & Rendi, R. P. (2019). The effects of knowledge management and risk taking on SME financial performance in creative industries in an emerging market: The mediating effect of innovation outcomes. *Journal of Global Entrepreneurship**Research*, 9(1), 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40497-019-0167-1
- Garcia, G. F. (2015). The relationship between self-efficacy and employee commitment among perfusionists. (Doctoral Dissertation)

 https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2308&context=dissertations

- Ghadge, A., Fang, X., Dani, S., & Antony, J. (2017). Supply chain risk assessment approach for process quality risks. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability*
- Management, 34(7), 940-954. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijqrm-01-2015-0010
- Gibson, C. B. (2017). Elaboration, generalization, triangulation, and interpretation: On enhancing the value of mixed method research. *Organizational Research Method*, 20(2), 193-223. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428116639133
- Giles, M., Parker, V., Conway, J., & Mitchell, R. (2018). Knowing how to get things done: Nurse consultants as clinical leaders. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27(9-10), 1981-1993. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14327
- Gkorezis, P., & Kastritsi, A. (2017). Employee expectations and intrinsic motivation: Work-related boredom as a mediator. *Employee Relations*, *39*(1), 100-111. https://doi.org/10.1108/er-02-2016-0025
- Gopalan, V., Bakar, J. A. A., Zulkifli, A. N., Alwi, A., & Mat, R. C. (2017). A review of the motivation theories in learning. *AIP Conference Proceedings*, 1891, 020043. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5005376
- Griffith, J. A., Gibson, C., Medeiros, K., MacDougall, A., Hardy, J., & Mumford, M. D. (2018). Are you thinking what I'm thinking? The influence of leader style, distance, and leader-follower mental model congruence on creative performance.
 Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies, 25(2), 153-170.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051817750537
- Groen, B. A. C., Wouters, M. J. F., & Wilderom, C. P. M. (2017). Employeeparticipation, performance metrics, and job performance: A survey study based on self-

- determination theory. *Management Accounting Research*, *36*, 51-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mar.2016.10.001
- Grosser, T. J., Venkataramani, V., & Labianca, G. (2017). An alter-centric perspective on employee innovation: The importance of alters' creative self-efficacy and network structure. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *10*(9), 1360-1374. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000220
- Guo, W., Lu, D., Wu, Y., & Zhang, J. (2015). Mapping impervious surface distribution with integration of SNNP VIIRS-DNB and MODIS NDVI data. *Remote Sensing*, 7(9), 12459-12477. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs70912459
- Halcomb, E., & Hickman, L. (2015). Mixed methods research. *Nursing Standard*, 29(32), 41-47. https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.29.32.41.e8858
- Hamlin, A., Schear, N., Shen, E., Varia, M., Yakoubov, S., & Yerukhimovich, A. (2016).Cryptography for big data security. *Big Data*, 71, 241-287.https://doi.org/10.1201/b19694
- Han, G. H., & Bai, Y. (2020). Leaders can facilitate creativity: the moderating roles of leader dialectical thinking and LMX on employee creative self-efficacy and creativity. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 35(5), 405-417. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmp-02-2019-0106
- Haradhan-Kumar, M. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, 7(1), 23-48. https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571

- Harinie, L. T., Sudiro, A., Rahayu, M., & Fatchan, A. (2017). Study of the Bandura's social cognitive learning theory for the entrepreneurship learning process. *Social Sciences*, 6(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ss.20170601.11
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research and Method in Education*, 38(1), 23-38. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727x.2014.914487
- Haydon, G., Browne, G., & van der Riet, P. (2018). Narrative inquiry as a research methodology exploring person centered care in nursing. *Collegian*, 25(1), 125-129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2017.03.001
- Hays, D. G., Wood, C., Dahl, H., & Kirk-Jenkins, A. (2016). Methodological rigor in Journal of Counseling & Development qualitative research articles: A 15-year review. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 94(2), 172-183. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12074
- He, P. X., Wu, T. J., Zhao, H. D., & Yang, Y. (2019). How to motivate employees for sustained innovation behavior in job stressors: A cross-level analysis of organizational innovation climate. *International Journal of Environmental* Research and Public Health, 16(23), 4608.https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16234608
- Heale, R., & Twycross, A. (2015). Validity and reliability in quantitative studies.

 Evidence Based Nursing, 18(3), 66-67. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102129
- Heilman, K. M. (2016). Possible brain mechanisms of creativity. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 31(4), 285-296. https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/acw009

- Hennekam, S., & Bennett, D. (2017). Creative industries work across multiple contexts:

 Common themes and challenges. *Personnel Review*, 46(1), 68-85.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/pr-08-2015-0220
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2016). Code saturation versus meaning saturation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(4), 591-608. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316665344
- Herawati, Y., Lupikawati, M., & Purwati, E. (2018). The influence of learning organization and organizational stress on performance of creative industry SMES with the creativity of its owners/actors as mediator. *Russian Journal of Agricultural and Socio-Economic Sciences*, 73(1), 65-78. https://doi.org/10.18551/rjoas.2018-01.09
- Hewett, R., Shantz, A., Mundy, J., & Alfes, K. (2017). Attribution theories in Human Resource Management research: a review and research agenda. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(1), 87-126. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2017.1380062
- Hocevar, D. (1981). Measurement of creativity: Review and critique. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 45(5), 450-464. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa4505_1
- Holland, J. (1960). The prediction of college grades from personality and aptitude variables. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *51*(5), 245-254. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0041601

- Holloway, I., & Galvin, K. (2017). *Qualitative research in nursing and healthcare* (4th ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Hon, A. H. Y., & Lui, S. S. (2016). Employee creativity and innovation in organizations.
 International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 28(5), 862-885.
 doi:10.1108/ijchm-09-2014-0454
- Howard, J. L., Gagne, M., & Bureau, J. S. (2017). Testing a continuum structure of self-determined motivation: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *143*(12), 1346-1377. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000125
- Howard, J. L., Gagne, M., Morin, A. J. S., & Forest, J. (2018). Using bifactor exploratory structural equation modeling to test for a continuum structure of motivation.

 Journal of Management, 44(7), 2638-2664.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316645653
- Inceoglu, I., Thomas, G., Chu, C., Plans, D., & Gerbasi, A. (2018). Leadership behavior and employee well-being: An integrated review and a future research agenda. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(1), 179-202.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.12.006
- Intasao, N., & Hao, N. (2018). Beliefs about creativity influence creative performance:

 The mediation effects of flexibility and positive affect. *Frontiers in Psychology*,

 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01810
- Ionescu, V., & Bolcas, C. (2017). Creativity and innovation in organizations. A managerial approach. *Manager*, 25, 39-45. http://www.manager.unibuc.ro/
- Iyer, A., Zhang, A., Jetten, J., Hao, Z., & Cui, L. (2017). The promise of a better group

- future: Cognitive alternatives increase students' self-efficacy and academic performance. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, *56*(4), 750-765. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjso.12201
- Jiang, W., & Gu, Q. (2017). Leader creativity expectations motivate employee creativity:

 A moderated mediation examination. *The International Journal of Human*Resource Management, 28(5), 724-749.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2015.1109535
- Jones, C., Svejenova, S., Pedersen, J. S., & Townley, B. (2016). *Misfits, mavericks and mainstreams: Drivers of innovation in the creative industries*. Organization Studies, *37*(6), 751-768. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840616647671
- Jug, R., Jiang, X., & Bean, S. M. (2019). Giving and receiving effective feedback: A review article and how-to guide. Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine, 14(2), 244-250. https://doi.org/10.5858/arpa.2018-0058-ra
- Kalyar, M. N., & Kalyar, H. (2018). Provocateurs of creative performance. *Personnel Review*, 47(2), 334-352. https://doi.org/10.1108/pr-10-2016-0286
- Kamasak, R. (2017). The contribution of tangible and intangible resources, and capabilities to a firm's profitability and market performance. *European Journal of Management and Business*, 26(2), 252-275. https://doi.org/10.1108/ejmbe-07-2017-015
- Kanfer, R., Frese, M., & Johnson, R. E. (2017). Motivation related to work: A century of progress. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(3), 338-355.
 https://doi.org/10.1037%2Fapl0000133

- Karim, S., Shaikh, U. U., & Asif, Z. (2017). Motivating crowd workers by managing expectations. *International Conference on Research and Innovation in Information Systems (ICRIIS)*. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8002539
- Khalil, R., Godde, B., & Karim, A. A. (2019). The link between creativity, cognition, and creative drives and underlying neural mechanisms. *Frontiers in Neural Circuits*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2019.00018
- Kim, K. H. (2017). The Torrance Tests of Creative Thinking Figural or Verbal: Which one should we use? *Creativity. Theories Research Applications*, *4*(2), 302-321. https://doi.org/10.1515/ctra-2017-0015
- Kim, Y. (2018). Enhancing employee communication behaviors for sensemaking and Sense giving in crisis situations. *Journal of Communication Management*, 22(4), 451-475. https://doi.org/10.1108/jcom-03-2018-0025
- Kirsten, C. L. (2018). The role of financial management training in developing skills and financial self-efficacy. *The Southern African Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small Business Management*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.4102/sajesbm.v10i1.211
- Klassen, R. M., & Klassen, J. R. L. (2018). Self-efficacy beliefs of medical students: a critical review. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 7(2), 76-82. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-018-0411-3
- Kolo, A. G., Jaafa, W. M. B. W., & Ahmad, N. B. (2017). Relationship between academic self-efficacy believed of college students and academic performance. *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 22(1), 75-80. https://doi.org/10.9790/0837-2201067580

- Kopp, B. C., Crump, R. T., & Weis, E. (2017). The use of semistructured interviews to assess quality of life impacts for patients with uveal melanoma. *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology*, 52(2), 181-185. https://doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.jcjo.2016.10.005
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),

 120-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Krichanchai, S., & Maccarthy, B. L. (2017). The adoption of vendor managed inventory for hospital pharmaceutical supply. *International Journal of Logistics*Management, 28(3), 755-780. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijlm-01-2015-0010
- Kuvaas, B., Buch, R., Weibel, A., Dysvik, A., & Nerstad, C. G. (2017). Do intrinsic and extrinsic motivation relate differently to employee outcomes? *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 61, 244-258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2017.05.004
- Ladner, S. (2017). Ethnographic research design. *Ethnographic Praxis in industry*Conference Proceedings, 2017(1), 500-500. https://doi.org/10.1111/1559-8918.2017.01188
- Lazarus, L., Satyapal, K. S., & Sookrajh, R. (2017). Reflective journals: Unmasking student perceptions of anatomical education. *Folia Morphologica*, 76(3), 506-518. https://doi.org/10.5603/fm.a2017.0019
- Lee, C., & Johnston-Wilder, S. (2017). The construct of mathematical resilience.

 *Understanding Emotions in Mathematical Thinking and Learning, 10, 269-291.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-802218-4.00010-8
- Lejeune, C., Beausaert, S., & Raemdonck, I. (2018). The impact on employee's job

- performance of exercising self-directed learning within personal development plan practice. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 1-27. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2018.1510848
- Lent, R. W., Ireland, G. W., Penn, L. T., Morris, T. R., & Sappington, R. (2017). Sources of self-efficacy and outcome expectations for career exploration and decision-making: A test of the social cognitive model of career self-management. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 99, 107-117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2017.01.002
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research.

 Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4(3), 324-327.

 https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Leyva-Moral, J. M., & Feijoo-Cid, M. (2017). Participants' safety versus confidentiality:

 A case study of HIV research. *Nursing Ethics*, 24(3), 376-380.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733016669865
- Liao, H., & Hitchcock, J. (2018). Reported credibility techniques in higher education evaluation studies that use qualitative methods: A research synthesis. *Evaluation & Program Planning*, 68, 157-165.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2018.03.005
- Lipka, A., Winnicka-Weis, A., & Waszczak, S. (2017). The experiment in the management of human capital creativity. *Journal of Economics & Management*, 27(1), 58-74. https://doi.org/10.22367/jem.2017.27.04
- Liu, C. C., Lu, K. H., Wu, L. Y., & Tsai, C. C. (2016). The impact of peer review on creative self-efficacy and learning performance in web 2.0 learning activities.

- Educational Technology & Society, 19(2), 286-297.
- http://www.jstor.org/stable/jeductechsoci.19.2.286
- Lloyd, R., & Mertens, D. (2018). Expecting more out of Expectancy Theory: History urges inclusion of the social context. *International Management Review*, *14*(1), 24-37. http://www.imrjournal.org
- Lyons, S., Karkou, V., Roe, B., Meekums, B., & Richards, M. (2018). What research evidence is there that dance movement therapy improves the health and wellbeing of older adults with dementia? A systematic review and descriptive narrative summary. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 60, 32-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2018.03.006
- Made, A. I. D., Made, S. U. I., Nyoman, S. I. A., & Nym, M. Y. I. (2020). The role of cultural value orientation in increasing productivity of creative industry in Denpasar City. *Russian Journal of Agricultural and Socio-Economic Sciences*, 102(6), 108-116. https://doi.org/10.18551/rjoas.2020-06.13
- Mahlanze, H. T., & Sibiya, M. N. (2017). Perceptions of student nurses on the writing of reflective journals as a means for personal, professional and clinical learning development. *Health SA Gesondheid*, 22, 79-86.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hsag.2016.05.005
- Malmelin, N., & Virta, S. (2016). Managing creativity in change. *Journalism Practice*, *10*(8), 1041-1054. https://doi.org/10.1080/17512786.2015.1074864
- Manti, S., & Licari, A. (2018). How to obtain informed consent for research. *Breathe*, *14*(2), 145-152. https://doi.org/10.1183/20734735.001918

- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). Designing qualitative research (6th Ed.). Sage.
- Marso-Walbeck, K. (2019). Leadership communication in lean-oriented companies. 2019

 IEEE International Professional Communication Conference (ProComm).

 https://doi.org/10.1109%2Fprocomm.2019.00044
- Mayer, I. (2015). Qualitative research with a focus on qualitative data analysis.

 *International Journal of Sales, Retailing & Marketing, 4(1), 53-67.

 http://www.ijsrm.com/ijsrm/home.html
- Mayfield, M., & Mayfield, J. (2017). Leader talk and the creative spark. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *54*(2), 210-225. https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488416687057
- Mazzei, A., Butera, A., & Quaratino, L. (2019). Employee communication for engaging workplaces. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 40(6), 23-32. https://doi.org/10.1108/jbs-03-2019-0053
- McDuff, D., & Kapoor, A. (2018). Visceral machines: Reinforcement learning with intrinsic rewards that mimic the human nervous system. *ArXiv Cornell University*. 1-11. https://arxiv.org/pdf/1805.09975.pdf
- McGee, J. E., & Peterson, M. (2017). The long-term impact of entrepreneurial self-efficacy and entrepreneurial orientation on venture performance. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 57(3), 720-737. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12324
- Mednick, S. (1962). The associative basis of the creative process. *Psychological Review*, 69(3), 220-232. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0048850
- Meinel, M., Wagner, T. F., Baccarella, C. V., & Voigt, K.-I. (2018). Exploring the effects

- of creativity training on creative performance and creative self-efficacy: Evidence from a longitudinal study. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, *53*(4). 546-558 https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.234
- Merriam, S. B., & Grenier, R. S. (2019). *Qualitative research in practice: Examples for discussion and analysis* (2nd Ed.). Wiley.
- Meyer, J., Fleckenstein, J., & Koller, O. (2019). Expectancy-value interactions and academic achievement: Differential relationships with achievement measures.

 Contemporary Educational Psychology, 58, 58-74.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2019.01.006
- Miao, R., & Cao, Y. (2019). High-performance work system, work well-being, and employee creativity: Cross-level moderating role of transformational leadership. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(9), 1640. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16091640
- Mielniczuk, E., & Laguna, M. (2018). Positive affect mediates the relationship between self-efficacy and innovative behavior in entrepreneurs. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 54, 267-278. https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.364
- Moon, K., Brewer, T. D., Januchowski-Hartley, S. R., Adams, V. M., & Blackman, D. A. (2016). A guideline to improve qualitative social science publishing in ecology and conservation journals. *Ecology & Society*, 21(3), 133-152. https://doi.org/10.5751%2Fes-08663-210317

- Mooney-Somers, J., & Olsen, A. (2017). Ethical review and qualitative research competence: Guidance for reviewers and applicants. *Research Ethics*, *13*(3-4),128-138. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747016116677636
- Moradkhani, S., & Haghi, S. (2017). Context-based sources of EFL teachers' self-efficacy: Iranian public schools versus private institutes. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 67, 259-269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.06.019
- Moradkhani, S., Raygan, A., & Moein, M. S. (2017). Iranian EFL teachers' reflective practices and self-efficacy: Exploring possible relationships. *System*, *65*, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2016.12.011
- Moreira-Fontan, E., Garcia-Senoran, M., Conde-Rodriguez, A., & Gonzalez, A. (2019).
 Teachers' ICT-related self-efficacy, job resources, and positive emotions: Their structural relations with autonomous motivation and work engagement.
 Computers & Education, 134, 63-77.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.02.007
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Data were saturated... *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(5), 587-588. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315576699
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Munizu, M., & Hamid, N. (2018). Mediation effect of innovation on the relationship between creativity with business performance at furniture industry in Indonesia.

 *Quality Access to Success, 19(165), 98-102. https://www.srac.ro/calitatea/en/

- Munoz-Pascual, L., & Galende, J. (2017). The impact of knowledge and motivation
 management on creativity: Employees of innovative Spanish companies.
 Employee Relations, 39(5), 732-752. https://doi.org/10.1108/er-05-2016-0096
- Munro, E. (2016). Illuminating the practice of Knowledge Exchange as a "pathway to impact" within an Arts and Humanities Research Council "Creative Economy Knowledge Exchange" project. *Geoforum*, 71, 44-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2016.03.002
- Munro, E. (2017). Building soft skills in the creative economy: Creative intermediaries, business support and the 'soft skills gap". *Poetics*, *64*, 14-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poetic.2017.07.002
- Muschetto, T., & Siegel, J. T. (2019). Attribution theory and support for individuals with depression: The impact of controllability, stability, and interpersonal relationship. *Stigma and Health*, 4(2), 126-135. https://doi.org/10.1037/sah0000131
- Musial, M. (2017). Managing creative individuals via freedom and control in film-making companies. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Venturing*, *9*(3), 1. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijev.2017.10006924
- Mustafa, G., Glavee-Geo, R., Gronhaug, K., & Saber Almazrouei, H. (2019). Structural impacts on formation of self-efficacy and its performance effects. *Sustainability*, 11(3), 860. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11030860
- Myers, C. G. (2018). Coactive vicarious learning: Toward a relational theory of vicarious learning in organizations. *Academy of Management Review*, *43*(4), 610-634. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2016.0202

- Nabi, N., Islam, M., Dip, T. M., & Al Hossain, A. (2019). Impact of motivation on employee performances: A case study of Karmasangsthan Bank Limited,
 Bangladesh. Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review, 7, 1-8.
 https://www.hilarispublisher.com/arabian-journal-business-management-review
- Naidoo, L. J. (2016). Leader opportunity versus threat verbal framing and nonverbal emotional expressions impact followers' creative performance. *The Leadership Quarterly In Press*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.06.001
- Naqvi, J. A., Ullah, S., & Javed, B. (2017). Effect of leadership styles on employees' innovative behaviour: The mediating role of employees' creativity. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 9, 27-37. https://doi.org/10.7176/ejbm
- National Endowment of the Arts (2018). *The arts contribute more than \$760 billion to the U.S. economy*. http://www.arts.gov
- National Endowment of the Arts (2019). *Latest data shows increase to U.S. economy* from arts and cultural sector. http://www.arts.gov
- National Institute of Health (2019). *Research training and career development*. https://www.nih.gov/
- Nawarini, A. T., Widiastuti, E., Sulistyandari, S., & Indriati, S. (2018). Increasing the business performance over human capital contribution on creative industry in Banyumas regency. *Ekuilibrium: Jurnal Ilmiah Bidang Ilmu Ekonomi, 13*(1), 11-25. https://doi.org/10.24269/ekuilibrium.v13i1.701
- Nebocat, C. (2017). Phlebotomy-related self-efficacy in Long Island nursing students: A pilot study. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, *12*(4), 281-285.

- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2017.07.003
- Newman, A., Tse, H. H. M., Schwarz, G., & Nielsen, I. (2018). The effects of employees' creative self-efficacy on innovative behavior: The role of entrepreneurial leadership. *Journal of Business Research*, 89, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.04.001
- Ng, T. W. H., & Lucianetti, L. (2016). Within-individual increases in innovative behavior and creative, persuasion, and change self-efficacy over time: A social–cognitive theory perspective. *Journal of Applied Psychology, 101*(1), 14-34. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000029
- Nigusie, G. T., & Getachew, H. (2019). The effect of reward system on employee creativity. *Journal of Higher Education Service Science*, 2(1). 1-20. https://joherd.com/journals
- Nykanen, M., Salmela-Aro, K., Tolvanen, A., & Vuori, J. (2019). Safety self-efficacy and internal locus of control as mediators of safety motivation Randomized controlled trial (RCT) study. *Safety Science*, *117*, 330-338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2019.04.037
- Obuobisa-Darko, T., & Domfeh, K. A. (2019). Leader behaviour to achieve employee engagement in Ghana: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Public Leadership*, 15(1), 19-37. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijpl-04-2018-0018
- Okhakhu, E., Emeka, P., & Okhakhu-Okpodi, J. (2016). Employee performance and self efficacy theory as tools for safe healthcare delivery in Nigerian hospitals: A literature based exploration. *Insights to a Changing World Journal*, 2016, 125-

- 137. http://www.franklinpublishing.net/insightschangingworld.html
- Oliveira, M., Bitencourt, C. C., Zanardo dos Santos, A. M., & Teixeira, E. K. (2016).

 Thematic content analysis: Is there a difference between the support provided by the MAXQDA® and NVIVO® software packages? *Brazilian Journal of Management 9*(1), 72-82. https://doi.org/10.5902/1983465911213
- Oliver, J. J. (2017). Exploring industry level capabilities in the U.K. creative industries.

 Creative Industries Journal, 10(1), 75-88.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/17510694.2017.1282302
- Olsson, A., B. Paredes, K. M., Johansson, U., Olander Roese, M., & Ritzen, S. (2019).

 Organizational climate for innovation and creativity a study in Swedish retail organizations. *The International Review of Retail, Distribution and Consumer Research*, 29(3), 243-261. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593969.2019.1598470
- Oltmann, S. (2016). Qualitative interviews: A methodological discussion of the interviewer and respondent contexts. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *17*(2), 1-16. http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-17.2.2551
- Oluwaseun, G. O., & Boboye, L. A. (2017). Randomness of stock return in the Nigerian banking sector. *Asian Journal of Economics and Empirical Research*, 4(2), 99-105. https://doi.org/10.20448/journal.501.2017.42.99.105
- Omilion-Hodges, L. M., & Ackerman, C. D. (2017). From the technical know-how to the free flow of ideas: Exploring the effects of leader, peer, and team communication on employee creativity. *Communication Quarterly*, 66(1), 38-57. https://doi.org/10.1080/01463373.2017.1325385

- Ooi, P. B., Wan Jaafar, W. M. B., & Baba, M. B. (2018). Relationship between sources of counseling self-efficacy and counseling self-efficacy among Malaysian school counselors. *The Social Science Journal*, *55*(3), 369-376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soscij.2017.05.005
- Orth, M., & Volmer, J. (2017). Daily within-person effects of job autonomy and work engagement on innovative behavior: The cross-level moderating role of creative self-efficacy. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 26(4), 601-612. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.2017.1332042
- Owusu, E., & Mardani, M. (2020). Towards achieving organizational objectives: The role of effective communication. *Journal of English Language Teaching and Applied Linguistics*, 2(4). https://doi.org/10.32996/jeltal.2020.2.4.3
- Oyibo, K., Adaji, I., & Vassileva, J. (2018). Social cognitive determinants of exercise behavior in the context of behavior modeling: a mixed method approach. *Digital Health*, 4. 205520761881155. https://doi.org/10.1177/2055207618811555
- Ozyilmaz, A., Erdogan, B., & Karaeminogullari, A. (2017). Trust in organization as a moderator of the relationship between self-efficacy and workplace outcomes: A social cognitive theory-based examination. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 91(1), 181-204. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12189
- Pachu, N., Strachan, S., McMillan, D., Ripat, J., & Webber, S. (2020). University students' knowledge, self-efficacy, outcome expectations, and barriers related to reducing sedentary behavior: a qualitative study. *Journal of American College Health*, 68(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2020.1786098

- Pandey, S., & Chawla, D. (2016). Using qualitative research for establishing content validity of e-lifestyle and website quality constructs. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 19(3), 339-356. https://doi.org/10.1108%2Fqmr-05-2015-0033
- Pang, K., & Lu, C. S. (2018). Organizational motivation, employee job satisfaction and organizational performance. *Maritime Business Review*, *3*(1), 36-52. https://doi.org/10.1108/mabr-03-2018-0007
- Pardo, C., & Alfonso, W. (2017). Applying "attribution theory" to determine the factors that lead to the failure of entrepreneurial ventures in Colombia. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 24(3), 562-584. https://doi.org/10.1108/jsbed-10-2016-0167
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods; Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, *3*(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Partridge, C., & Allman, M. (2016). Ethical considerations in network measurement papers. *Communications of the ACM*, *59*(10), 58-64. https://doi.org/10.1145/2896816
- Pattnaik, S. C., & Sahoo, R. (2020). Employee engagement, creativity, and task performance: Role of perceived workplace autonomy. *South Asian Journal of Business Studies, ahead-of-print(ahead-of-print)*. https://doi.org/10.1108/sajbs-11-2019-0196
- Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in

- psychology. The *Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 76-85. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss2/7
- Perry, A., & Karpova, E. (2017). Efficacy of teaching creative thinking skills: A comparison of multiple creativity assessments. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 24, 118-126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2017.02.017
- Peticca-Harris, A., deGama, N., & Elias, S. R. S. T. A. (2016). A dynamic process model for finding informants and gaining access in qualitative research. *Organizational Research Methods*, *19*(3), 376-401. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428116629218
- Petro, M. T., & Farlens, T. (2018). Creativity, entrepreneurship, and labor dynamics: The role of creative workers in Portugal. *Handbook of Research on Entrepreneurial Ecosystems and Social Dynamics in a Globalized World*, 21(15), 488-502. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-3525-6.ch021
- Pick, H., & Lavidor, M. (2019). Modulation of automatic and creative features of the Remote Associates Test by angular gyrus stimulation. *Neuropsychologia*, 129, 348-356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2019.04.010
- Pretz, J. E., & Nelson, D. (2017). The creative self: Creativity is influenced by domain, creative self-efficacy, mindset, self-efficacy, and self-esteem. *Explorations in Creative Research*, 2017, 155-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-809790-8.00009-1
- Protogerou, A., Kontolaimou, A., & Caloghirou, Y. (2017). Innovation in the European creative industries: a firm-level empirical approach. *Industry & Innovation*, 24(6), 587-612. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2016.1263551

- Pucher, P. H., Aggarwal, R., Singh, P., Tahir, M., & Darzi, A. (2015). Identifying quality markers and improvement measures for ward-based surgical care: A semistructured interview study. *The American Journal of Surgery, 210*(2), 211-218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2014.11.013
- Qi, L., Liu, B., Wei, X., & Hu, Y. (2019). Impact of inclusive leadership on employee innovative behavior: Perceived organizational support as a mediator. *Plos One*, *14*(2), e0212091. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0212091
- Radomska, J., Wolczek, P., Soloducho-Pelc, L., & Silva, S. (2019). The impact of trust on the approach to management: A case study of creative industries.

 Sustainability, 11(3), 816. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11030816
- Raeburn, T., Schmied, V., Hungerford, C., & Cleary, M. (2016). The use of social environment in a psychosocial clubhouse to facilitate recovery-oriented practice. *BJPsych Open*, 2(2), 173-178. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjpo.bp.115.002642
- Rahi, S. (2017). Research design and methods: A systematic review of research paradigms, sampling issues and instruments development. *International Journal of Economics & Management Sciences*, 6(02). https://doi.org/10.4172/2162-6359.1000403
- Ramji, Z., & Etowa, J. (2018). Workplace integration: Key considerations for internationally educated nurses and employers. *Administrative Sciences*, 8(1), 2. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci8010002
- Revilla, E., & Rodriguez-Prado, B. (2018). Building ambidexterity through creativity mechanisms: Contextual drivers of innovation success. *Research Policy*, 47(9),

- 1611-1625. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2018.05.009
- Rhew, E., Piro, J. S., Goolkasian, P., & Cosentino, P. (2018). The effects of a growth mindset on self-efficacy and motivation. *Cogent Education*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186x.2018.1492337
- Ridder, H. (2017). The theory contribution of case study research designs. *Business Research*, 10(2), 281-305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-017-0045-z
- Ritter, S. M., & Mostert, N. (2017). Enhancement of creative thinking skills using a cognitive-based creativity training. *Journal of Cognitive Enhancement*, 1(3), 243-253. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41465-016-0002-3
- Rodriguez-Sanchez, A. M., Devloo, T., Rico, R., Salanova, M., & Anseel, F. (2017).

 What makes creative teams tick? cohesion, engagement, and performance across creativity tasks: A three-wave study. *Group & Organization Management*, 42(4), 521-547. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601116636476
- Rosenthal, M. (2016). Methodology matters: Qualitative research methods: Why, when, and how to conduct interviews and focus groups in pharmacy research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 8(4), 509-516. https://doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.cptl.2016.03.021
- Roy, K., Zvonkovic, A., Goldberg, A., Sharp, E., & LaRossa, R. (2015). Sampling richness and qualitative integrity: Challenges for research with families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77(1), 243-260. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12147

- Royston, R., & Reiter-Palmon, R. (2019). Creative self-efficacy as mediator between creative mindsets and creative problem-solving. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 53(4), 472-481. https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.226
- Rumsey, M., Thiessen, J., Buchan, J., & Daly, J. (2016). The consequences of English language testing for international health professionals and students: An Australian case study. International *Journal of Nursing Studies*, *54*, 95-103. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.06.001
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Self-determination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness. Guilford Press.
- Salminen-Tuomaala, M., Leikkola, P., & Paavilainen, E. (2015). Emergency health care professionals' experiences of factors that influence care quality and safety.

 *Clinical Nursing Studies, 3(3), 60-68. https://doi.org/10.5430/cns.v3n3p60
- Santos, R. E., Magalhaes, C. V., & da Silva, F. Q. (2017). Member checking in software engineering research: Lessons learned from an industrial case study. *ACM/IEEE International Symposium on Empirical Software Engineering and Measurement*, 187-192. https://doi.org/10.1109/esem.2017.29
- Santoro, G., Bresciani, S., & Papa, A. (2020). Collaborative modes with cultural and creative industries and innovation performance: The moderating role of heterogeneous sources of knowledge and absorptive capacity. *Technovation*, 92-93, 102040. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2018.06.003
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.

- Saunders, M. N. K., & Townsend, K. (2016). Reporting and justifying the number of interview participants in organization and workplace research. *British Journal of Management*, 27(4), 836-852. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12182
- Schneider-Grings, A. F., & Hentschke, L. (2016). Attributional theory in investigating public music performance in higher music education. *International Journal of Music Education*, *35*(1), 31-46. https://doi.org/10.1177/0255761415619393
- Schoonenboom, J., & Johnson, R. B. (2017). How to construct a mixed methods research design. *KZfSS Kölner Zeitschrift Für Soziologie Und Sozialpsychologie*, 69(S2), 107-131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11577-017-0454-1
- Seal, W., & Mattimoe, R. (2016). The role of narrative in developing management control knowledge from fieldwork. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 13(3), 330-349. https://doi.org/10.1108/qram-06-2015-0055
- Seechaliao, T. (2017). Instructional strategies to support creativity and innovation in education. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 6(4), 201. https://doi.org/10.5539/jel.v6n4p201
- Setia, M. (2016). Methodology series module 5: Sampling strategies. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*, 61(5), 505. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.190118
- Shaw, D., & Satalkar, P. (2018). Researchers' interpretations of research integrity: A qualitative study. *Accountability in research: Policies & Quality Assurance*, 25(2), 79-93. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2017.1413940
- Shin, Y., Hur, W. M., Moon, T. W., & Lee, S. (2019). A motivational perspective on job insecurity: Relationships between job insecurity, intrinsic motivation, and

- performance and behavioral outcomes. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(10), 1812. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16101812
- Singh, K., & Misra, M. (2020). How to bring positive societal change through Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)? Modeling the social responsible enablers using ISM-MICMAC. 2020 IEEE Technology & Engineering Management Conference (TEMSCON), Technology & Engineering Management Conference (TEMSCON), 2020 IEEE. 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1109%2Ftemscon47658.2020.9140095
- Skavronska, I. V. (2017). Creative industries in Ukraine: Analysis and prospects of the development. *Economics & Sociology*, 10(2), 87-106. https://doi.org/10.14254/2071-789x.2017/10-2/7
- Snelson, C. L. (2016). Qualitative and mixed methods social media research. A review of the literature. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 15(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406915624574
- Songkram, N. (2017). Online course design for creativity and innovative skills in virtual cultural ASEAN community: From research to empirical practice.

 International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (iJET), 12(01), 4. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v12i01.6032
- Sooniste, T., Granhag, P. A., Stromwall, L. A., & Vrij, A. (2015). Statements about true and false intentions: Using the cognitive interview to magnify the differences. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 56(4), 371-378.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/sjop.12216

- Spekle, R. F., van Elten, H. J., & Widener, S. K. (2017). Creativity and control: A paradox-evidence from the Levers of Control Framework. *Behavioral Research in Accounting*, 29(2), 73-96. https://doi.org/10.2308/bria-51759
- Springer, S. M. (2019). *The creative economy: Art, culture and creativity in New York*City. https://www.comptroller.nyc.gov
- Stacho, Z., Stachova, K., Papula, J., Papulova, Z., & Kohnova, L. (2019). Effective communication in organizations increases their competitiveness. *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, *19*(1), 391-403. https://doi.org/10.17512/pjms.2019.19.1.30
- Stachowska, S., & Czaplicka-Kozłowska, I. Z. (2017). Motivating employees of the public organization: Case study of the higher education institute. *Management Theory & Studies for Rural Business & Infrastructure Development, 39*(1), 100-111. https://doi.org/10.15544/mts.2017.08
- Stanton, N. A. (2016). On the reliability and validity of, and training in, ergonomics methods: A challenge revisited. *Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science*, 17(4), 345-353. https://doi.org/10.1080%2F1463922x.2015.1117688
- Stojcic, N., Hashi, I., & Aralica, Z. (2018). Creativity, innovations and firm performance in an emerging transition economy. *Ekonomski Pregled*, 69(3), 203-228. https://doi.org/10.32910/ep.69.3.1
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226-231. https://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1456

- Suwanti, S. (2019). Intrinsic motivation, knowledge sharing, and employee creativity: A self-determination perspective. *International Journal of Scientific & Technical Research*, 8, 623-629. http://www.ijstr.org/
- Taguchi, N. (2018). Description and explanation of pragmatic development: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods research. *System*, 75, 23-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.010
- Taherdoost, H. (2016). Sampling methods in research methodology: How to choose a sampling technique for research. *International Journal of Academic Research in Management*, 5(2), 18-27 https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3205035
- Tan, C. S., Tan, S. A., Mohd Hashim, I. H., Lee, M. N., Ong, A. W. H., & Yaacob, S. B. (2019). Problem-solving ability and stress mediate the relationship between creativity and happiness. *Creativity Research Journal*, 31(1), 15-25. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2019.1568155
- Taura, T., & Nagai, Y. (2017). Creativity in innovation design: The roles of intuition, synthesis, and hypothesis. *International Journal of Design Creativity and Innovation*, 59(3-4), 131-148. https://doi.org/10.1080/21650349.2017.1313132
- Taylor, S. J., Bogdan, R., & DeVault, M. (2015). *Introduction to qualitative research methods: A guidebook and resource*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Teymournejad, K., & Elghaei, R. (2017). Effect of transformational leadership on the creativity of employees: An empirical investigation. *Engineering, Technology* & *Applied Science Research*, 7(1), 1413-1419. http://www.estar.com

- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155-163. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *14*(1), 23-41. https://doi.org/10.1080%2F14780887.2016.1219435
- Thornberg, C. (2021). Otis College of Art and Design: 2020 Otis Report on the creative economy. *Beacon Economics*. https://www.otis.edu/creative-economy
- Thibault Landry, A., Schweyer, A., & Whillans, A. (2017). Winning the war for talent:

 Modern motivational methods for attracting and retaining employees.

 Compensation & Benefits Review, 49(4), 230-246.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0886368718808152
- Toivainen, T., Olteteanu, A. M., Repeykova, V., Likhanov, M., & Kovas, Y. (2019). Visual and linguistic stimuli in the Remote Associates Test: A cross-cultural investigation. *Frontiers in Psychology, 10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00926
- Torkan, N., Kazemi, A., Paknahad, Z., & Bahadoran, P. (2018). Relationship of social cognitive theory concepts to dietary habits of pregnant women. *Iranian Journal of Nursing & Midwifery Research*, 23(2), 125-130.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5881229/

- Torrance, E. P. (1972). Predictive validity of the Torrance Tests of Creative Thinking. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 6(4), 236-262. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2162-6057.1972.tb00936.x
- Tran, V., Porcher, R., Ravaud, P., & Falissard, B. (2016). Point of data saturation was assessed using resampling methods in a survey with open-ended questions.

 Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 80, 88-96.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.07.014
- Tumele, S. (2015). Case study research. *International Journal of Sales, Retailing & Marketing*, 4, 68-78. http://www.ijsrm.com/ijsrm/home.html
- Tvinnereim, E., Flottum, K., Gjerstad, O., Johannesson, M. P., & Nordo, A. D. (2017). Citizens' preferences for tackling climate change. Quantitative and qualitative analyses of their freely formulated solutions. *Global Environmental Change*, 46, 34-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.06.005
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services (1979). The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research.

 http://www.hhs.gov/
- Uzonwanne, F. C. (2016). Influence of age and gender on decision-making models and leadership styles of non-profit executives in Texas, USA. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 24(2), 186-203. https://doi.org/10.1108%2Fijoa-05-2013-0667
- van Laar, E., van Deursen, A. J. A. M., van Dijk, J. A. G. M., & de Haan, J. (2020).

 Measuring the levels of 21st-century digital skills among professionals working

- within the creative industries: A performance-based approach. *Poetics*, *81*, 101434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poetic.2020.101434
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Vicary, S., Young, A., & Hicks, S. (2017). A reflective journal as learning process and contribution to quality and validity in interpretative phenomenological analysis.

 Qualitative Social Work, 16(4), 550-565.

 https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1473325016635244
- Vijayabanu, C., Suppraja, R., & Sathammai, C. (2017). Motivation and performance excellence of pharma employees-A case study approach. *Research Journal of Pharmacy and Technology*, 10(1), 70. https://doi.org/10.5958/0974-360x.2017.00017.8
- Walumbwa, F. O., Christensen-Salem, A., I-Chieh, H., & Misati, E. (2018). Creative self-efficacy and creative performance: Understanding the underlying mechanisms.
 Academy of Management Proceedings, 2018(1), 10208.
 https://doi.org/10.5465/ambpp.2018.75
- Wang, G., & Netemeyer, R. G. (2002). The effects of job autonomy, customer demandingness, and trait competitiveness on salesperson learning, self-efficacy, and performance. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 30(3), 217-228. https://doi.org/10.1177/0092070302303003

- Wang, K., & Nickerson, J. V. (2017). A literature review on individual creativity support systems. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 74, 139-151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.04.035
- Wang, S., Liu, Y., & Shalley, C. E. (2018). Idiosyncratic deals and employee creativity:

 The mediating role of creative self-efficacy. *Human Resource Management*,

 57(6), 1443-1453. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21917
- Wang, Z., & Dong, S. (2019). Autonomy as core of creativity and compliance:

 Moderated moderation model of maternal parenting behaviors. *Creativity*Research Journal, 31(1), 74-82. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2019.1577674
- Webb-Williams, J. (2017). Science self-efficacy in the primary classroom: Using mixed methods to investigate sources of self-efficacy. *Research in Science Education*, 48(5), 939-961. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-016-9592-0
- Weiner, B. (1985). An attributional theory of achievement motivation and emotion.

 Psychological Review, 92(4), 548-573. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.92.4.548
- Weiner, B. (2018). The legacy of an attribution approach to motivation and emotion: A no-crisis zone. *Motivation Science*, 4(1), 4-14. https://doi.org/10.1037/mot0000082
- Wen, L., Zhou, M., & Lu, Q. (2017). The influence of leader's creativity on employees' and team creativity. *Nankai Business Review International*, 8(1), 22-38. https://doi.org/10.1108/nbri-05-2016-0020

- Wertz, C. J., Chohan, M. O., Flores, R. A., & Jung, R. E. (2020). Neuroanatomy of creative achievement. *Neuro Image*, 209, 116487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.116487
- Weston, J. (2018). The clinical instructor program: Improving self-efficacy for nurse educators. *Nurse Educator*, 43(3), 158-161. https://doi.org/10.1097/nne.0000000000000452
- Wimmer, S., Lackner, H. K., Papousek, I., & Paechter, M. (2018). Goal orientations and activation of approach versus avoidance motivation while awaiting an achievement situation in the laboratory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01552
- Windels, K., & Stuhlfaut, M. W. (2017). Teaching creativity: Experimental evidence of three strategies for teaching industry standards for creative excellence. *Journal of Advertising Education*, 21(1), 13-25.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/109804821702100105
- Wood, R., & Bandura, A. (1989). Social cognitive theory of organizational management.

 The Academy of Management Review, 14(3), 361. https://doi.org/10.2307/258173
- Wynn, M., & Jones, P. (2017). Knowledge transfer partnerships and the entrepreneurial university. *Industry and Higher Education*, 31(4), 267-278. https://doi.org/10.1177/0950422217705442
- Wyte-Lake, T., Griffin, A. R., & Dobalian, A. (2018). Supporting Staff Through a

 Complete Hospital Evacuation and Extended Displacement Period. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 63(3), 195-209. https://doi.org/10.1097/jhm-d-16-00009

- Yang, Y., Li, Z., Liang, L., & Zhang, X. (2019). Why and when paradoxical leader behavior impact employee creativity: Thriving at work and psychological safety.

 Current Psychology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-018-0095-1
- Yang, Z., Jia, W., Liu, G., & Sun, M. (2017). Quantifying mental arousal levels in daily living using additional heart rate. *Biomedical Signal Processing and Control*, 33, 368-378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bspc.2016.11.003
- Yates, J., & Leggett, T. (2016). *Qualitative research: An introduction. Radiologic Technology*, 88(2), 225-231.

 http://www.radiologictechnology.org/content/88/2/225.extract
- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 134-152. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss2/12
- Yeh, S. S., & Huan, T. C. (2017). Assessing the impact of work environment factors on employee creative performance of fine-dining restaurants. *Tourism Management*, 58, 119-131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2016.10.006
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th Ed.).

 Sage.
- Yip, C., Han, N. R., & Sng, B. (2016). Legal and ethical issues in research. *Indian Journal of Anaesthesia*, 60(9), 684. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5049.190627
- Zarei, A. A., & Naghdi, F. (2017). Sources of self-efficacy as predictors of EFL learners course performance. *European Online Journal of Natural and Social Sciences*, 6, 68-80. https://www.european-science.com

- Zhang, J., Gong, Z., Zhang, S., & Zhao, Y. (2017). Impact of the supervisor feedback environment on creative performance: A moderated mediation model. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 256. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00256
- Zhang, Q., Sun, S., Zheng, X., & Liu, W. (2019). The role of cynicism and personal traits in the organizational political climate and sustainable creativity. *Sustainability*, 11(1), 257. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11010257
- Zhang, X., & Kwan, H. K. (2019). Team behavioral integration links team interdependence with team performance: an empirical investigation in R&D teams. *Frontiers of Business Research in China, 13*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s11782-019-0054-1
- Zhao, H., & Guo, L. (2019). The trickle-down effects of creative work involvement: The joint moderating effects of proactive personality and leader creativity expectations. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 142, 218-225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.05.042
- Zheng, X., & Liu, X. (2017). The buffering effect of mindfulness on abusive supervision and creative performance: A social cognitive framework. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01588
- Zhu, M., Sari, A., & Lee, M. M. (2018). A systematic review of research methods and topics of the empirical MOOC literature (2014-2016). *The Internet and Higher Education*, 37, 31-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2018.01.002
- Zientek, L. R., Fong, C. J., & Phelps, J. M. (2019). Sources of self-efficacy of community college students enrolled in developmental mathematics. *Journal of Further and*

 $Higher\ Education,\ 43 (2),\ 183-200.$

 $https:/\!/doi.org/10.1080/0309877x.2017.1357071$

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study is to explore strategies managers of creative industry firms use to motivate employees to achieve higher levels of creative performance. I used the semistructured interview technique as the primary means of collecting data from four creative industry managers. The following interview protocol was used to query each manager:

- 1. Greet and introduce myself to the participant.
- 2. Reiterate the purpose of the interview.
- 3. Provide the participant with a copy of the consent form.
 - a. Discuss the contents of the form.
 - b. Disclose the need and my intention to record the interview session.
 - c. Allow participants time to review the form.
 - d. Answer any questions that may arise.
- 4. Place the recording in a conspicuous place and advise the participant that I am about to begin recording the interview.
- 5. Turn on the recording device, state the date, time, and location of the interview.
- 6. Identify the participant using a P1, P2, P3, P4 identification code.
- 7. Beginning with the central research question, start querying the participant and proceed in asking questions sequentially to final the question.
- 8. Follow-up with any additional questions as needed.
- 9. Conclude the interview sequence.
- 10. Advise participants of the member checking process and follow-up procedures.
- 11. Confirm and exchange contact information with the participant.
- 12. Thank the participant for engaging in the study.
- 13. Turn off the recording device.

Appendix B: Certificate of Ethical Compliance

Certificate of Completion

The National Institutes of Health (NIH) Office of Extramural Research certifies that **Shirley Bishop** successfully completed the NIH Webbased training course "Protecting Human Research Participants".

Date of completion: 03/14/2015

Certification Number: 1721207

Appendix C: Interview Questions

- 1. What effective strategies do you use to motivate employee creative performance?
- 2. What strategies were most effective in motivating employees to enhance creative performance?
- 3. What strategies were least effective in motivating employees to enhance creative performance?
- 4. What criteria do you use to set creative performance goals?
- 5. How do you assess the effectiveness of the strategies you use to motivate employees to enhance creative performance in your firm?
- 6. What barriers did you encounter in implementing strategies to motivate employees to enhance of creative performance?
- 7. How did you address the barriers to implementing strategies to motivate employee enhancement of creative performance?
- 8. What else might you add to the discussion concerning motivating employee creative performance?